University of Alberta

Distribution of sortilin in the adult rat brain and its association with the p75 neurotrophin receptor

By

Doreen Nyandia Kabogo



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the

Requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Centre for Neuroscience

Edmonton, AB

Spring, 2007

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-29970-8 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-29970-8

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



ABSTRACT

Neurotensin receptor-3/sortilin is a single trans-membrane domain protein involved in intracellular trafficking/sorting of lysosomal enzymes. Recent evidence indicates that p75 neurotrophin receptor (p75^{NTR}) interacts with sortilin to mediate cell death induced by pro-neurotrophins. In the present study, I evaluated normal distribution of sortilin in the adult rat brain and its possible alterations following 192 IgG-saporin treatment. Using Western blotting and immunohistochemical methods, I demonstrated that sortilin is widely distributed in the normal adult rat brain. A subset of sortilin-immunoreactive neurons was p75^{NTR} found immunoreactivity. express Additionally, to sortilin immunoreactivity was evident in cholinergic neurons of the basal forebrain, striatum and brainstem region. Administration of 192 IgG-saporin induced a significant a loss of p75^{NTR} positive cholinergic neurons, but no alteration in the levels/expression of sortilin, in the treated rats. These results suggest that although sortilin is distributed widely in the adult rat brain and is co-localized with p75^{NTR} positive cells, its levels/expression may be differentially regulated than p75^{NTR} levels/expression.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to sincerely thank my supervisor, Dr. Satyabrata Kar, for all his support, encouragement and motivation during the course of my graduate work. I will always treasure this enriching research experience. The knowledge and expertise I acquired as a student in his lab has no doubt accorded me invaluable experience for my research career.

Additionally, I would like to thank my supervisory committee, Drs. Jack Jhamandas and Kathryn Todd, for their essential critique, guidance and support during my Masters program, as well as Dr. Glen Baker and all the members of the Neurochemical Research Unit. Thank you.

I would also like to thank all my lab members, both present (Dr. Meesook Song, Asha Amritraj and Anitha Kodam), as well as former (Dr. Cheryl Hawkes, Dr. Zelan Wei and Yuri Silkin), for their support and friendship. I am privileged to have been a part of a great team.

It goes without saying that I would not be where I am without the love and support of my family. I am truly grateful to my parents, Mr Paul Kabogo and Mrs Beatrice Kabogo, as well as my wonderful brothers, James and Joseph Kabogo. The long trip away from home in pursuit of academia would not have been possible without you all. In addition, I would like to thank my husband, Xavier Guzman, as well as my friends, Lola and Niyi Adewale, Subuola Awoleri, Carol Kinyua, Nana Antwi-Darkwa, Cassandra Campbell and Bola Fakuade, who have been the core of my new family in Canada. There are also numerous other friends in different parts of the globe who have been a lifeline for me and accorded me with many formative experiences to this point. Thank you all.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	CHAPTER 1	
	INTRODUCTION	
1. Neurotrophins and their receptors		2
	1.1. Neurotrophins	2
	1.2. Neurotrophin receptors	4
	1.3. The structure of the $p75^{NTR}$	4
	1.4. Expression of $p75^{NTR}$ in the central nervous system (CNS)	6
	and its localization in cholinergic neurons	
	1.5. p75 ^{NTR} interactors	9
	1.6. Functions of the p75 ^{NTR}	9
2. Neurotensin and its receptors		11
	2.1. Neurotensin	11
	2.2. Neurotensin receptors	11
	2.3. Neurotensin receptor-3/Sortilin	13
	2.4. Distribution of sortilin in the CNS	14
	2.5. Ligands of sortilin	14
	2.6. Physiological role of sortilin	15
3. Link between p75 ^{NTR} and sortilin		16
4. Hypothesis and objectives		17
	CHAPTER 2	18
	MATERIALS AND METHODS	19
	1. Materials	19
2. Methods		19
	2.1.192 IgG-saporin intra-cerebroventricular (icv) administration	19
	2.2. Western blotting	20
	2.3. Immunohistochemistry	21
	a) Enzyme-linked immunohistochemistry	21
	b) Double immunofluorescence	22

CHAPTER 3

CHAPTER 3		
RESULTS		
1. The normal adult rat brain		
1.1. Sortilin in the normal adult rat brain	24	
1.2. $p75^{NTR}$ and ChAT in the normal adult rat brain	32	
1.3. Sortilin and ChAT in the normal adult rat brain	32	
1.4. Sortilin and p75 ^{NTR} in the normal adult rat brain	35	
2. 192 IgG-saporin treated rat brain		
2.1. Cholinergic system in 192 IgG-saporin-treated rat brain	35	
2.2. p75 ^{NTR} system in 192 IgG-saporin-treated rat brain	46	
2.3. Sortilin in 192 IgG-saporin-treated rat brain	46	
CHAPTER 4	58	
DISCUSSION		
1. Widespread distribution of sortilin in the normal adult rat brain		
2. Expression of sortilin in p75 ^{NTR} -positive cholinergic neurons of		
the adult rat brain		
3. Cholinergic system in 192 IgG-saporin-treated rat brain		
4. Sortilin in 192 IgG-saporin-treated rat brain		
5. Summary		
BIBLIOGRAPHY	67	

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1. Distribution and co-localization of sortilin with ChAT-positive as well as p75^{NTR} -positive neuronal cell bodies in the adult rat brain

•

57

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Schematic representation of the cleavage of neurotrophin precursors by proteolytic enzymes.	3
Figure 1.2. Diagram showing the interaction and differing affinities of neurotrophin receptors, p75 ^{NTR} and Trks, for neurotrophins.	5
Figure 1.3. Anatomy of the central cholinergic system and its projections in the adult rat brain.	7
Figure 1.4. Interaction of sortilin and p75 ^{NTR} to form a receptor complex at the cell surface which can mediate apoptotic cell death induced by pro-neurotrophins.	12
Figure 3.1. Western blot of sortilin in different regions of the adult rat brain.	26
Figure 3.2. Photomicrographs of transverse sections of the adult rat brain showing the distribution of sortilin-immunoreactive neurons and fibres in the lateral septum, medial septum, diagonal band of Broca, nucleus basalis of Meynert, globus pallidus, striatum and frontal cortex.	28
Figure 3.3. Photomicrographs of transverse sections of adult rat brain showing the distribution of sortilin-immunoreactive neurons and fibres in the hippocampus, thalamus, motorneurons of the brainstem and the Purkinje cells of the cerebellum.	31
Figure 3.4. Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of transverse sections of control rat brain showing the distribution of	34

choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) and $p75^{NTR}$ immunoreactivities in the basal forebrain regions.

Figure 3.5. Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of	37
transverse sections of control adult rat brain showing the distribution	
of sortilin and choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) immunoreactivities	
in the medial septum and diagonal band of Broca.	

Figure 3.6. Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of39transverse sections of control adult rat brain showing the distributionof sortilin and choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) immunoreactivitiesin the nucleus basalis of Meynert, striatum, hippocampus andbrainstem motoneurons

Figure 3.7. Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of41transverse sections of control adult rat brain showing the distribution6of sortilin and p75^{NTR} immunoreactivities in the medial septum6and diagonal band of Broca.6

43

Figure 3.8. Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of transverse sections of control adult rat brain showing the distribution of sortilin and p75^{NTR} immunoreactivities in the nucleus basalis of Meynert, motorneurons of the brainstem and Purkinje cells of the cerebellum.

Figure 3.9. Photomicrographs showing the distribution of ChAT45immunoreactivity in the medial septum/diagonal band of5Broca, hippocampus and striatum of control animals and 7 days6after treatment with 192 IgG-saporin. Western blots and histograms6depicting alterations in ChAT levels at 1, 4, 7, 14, 28 days in the6septum/diagonal band of Broca, hippocampus and striatum6

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

following administration of 192 IgG-saporin relative to levels in saline-treated controls.

Figure 3.10. Photomicrographs showing the distribution of p75^{NTR} 48 immunoreactivity in the medial septum/diagonal band of Broca, hippocampus of control animals and 7 days post-treatment with 192 IgG-saporin.

Figure 3.11. Photomicrographs showing the distribution of50sortilin immunoreactivity in the medial septum/diagonal band of50Broca, hippocampus and striatum of control animals and 7 days after50treatment with 192 IgG-saporin. Western blots and histograms50showing sortilin levels in the septum/diagonal band of Broca,50hippocampus and striatum following administration of 19250IgG-saporin relative to saline-treated controls.50

Figure 3.12. Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of transverse sections of the adult rat brain showing the distribution of ChAT and sortilin immunoreactivities in the diagonal band of Broca, nucleus basalis of Meynert and striatum of control and 7 day 192 IgG-saporin post-treated rats. Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of transverse

sections of the adult rat brain showing the distribution of $p75^{NTR}$ and sortilin immunoreactivities in the diagonal band of Broca and nucleus basalis of Meynert of control and 7 day 192 IgG-saporin post-treated rats.

Figure 3.13. Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of transverse sections of the adult rat brain showing the distribution of immunoreactive sortilin and GFAP in the medial septum and diagonal band of Broca of control and 7 day 192 IgG-saporin post-lesioned rats.

53

Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of transverse sections of the adult rat brain showing the distribution of sortilin and ED1 in the medial septum and diagonal band of Broca of control and 7 day 192 IgG-saporin post-lesioned rats.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AD	Alzheimer's disease
ANOVA	Analysis of variances
BDNF	Brain derived neurotrophic factor
ChAT	Choline acetyltransferase
CNS	Central nervous system
DAB	Diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride
DBB	Diagonal band of Broca
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
FAP-1	Fas-associated phosphatase-1
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
GGA	Golgi associated, γ -adaptin homologous, ARF binding protein
GM2AP	GM2 ganglioside activator protein
GST	glutathione S-transferase fusion protein
icv	intracerebroventricular
IL-1β	Interleukin-1ß
IL-6	Interleukin-6
LpL	Lipoprotein lipase L
MAGE	Melanoma antigen
MAP	Mitogen-activated protein
MCID	Microcomputer Imaging Device
MCP-1	Monocyte chemotactic protein 1
MIP2	Macrophage inflammatory protein-2
NADE	p75 ^{NTR} -associated cell death executor
NBM	Nucleus basalis of Meynert
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NRAGE	Neurotrophin receptor-interacting MAGE homologue
NRIF	Neurotrophin receptor interacting protein
NT3	Neurotrophin-3

NT4	Neurotrophin-4
NTR1	Neurotensin receptor-1
NTR2	Neurotensin receptor-2
NTR3	Neurotensin receptor-3
p75 ^{NTR}	p75 neurotrophin receptor
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
PC1	Pro-convertase 1
PC2	Pro-convertase 2
Pro-BDNF	Pro-Brain derived neurotrophic factor
Pro-NGF	Pro-Nerve growth factor
RAP	Receptor-associated protein
RIP-2	Receptor interacting protein-2
ROD	Relative optical density
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction
SAP	Sphingolipid activator protein
SC-1	Schwann cell factor-1
siRNAi	small interfering RNA interference
SorCS	Sortilin-related Vps10 domain-containing receptor
SorLA	Sortilin-related receptor containing LDLR class A repeats
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TRAF	TNF receptor-associated factor
TrkA	Tropomyosin-related tyrosine kinase A receptor
TrkB	Tropomyosin-related tyrosine kinase B receptor
TrkC	Tropomyosin-related tyrosine kinase C receptor
VAChT	Vesicular acetylcholine transporter

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

.

INTRODUCTION

1. Neurotrophins and their receptors

1.1. Neurotrophins

The neurotrophins comprise a small family of secreted proteins that promote the growth, survival, and differentiation of neurons in the central and peripheral nervous systems. Constant exposure to neurotrophins is an absolute requirement for the survival and development of neurons (Mamidipudi and Wooten, 2002). In mammals, the known neurotrophins are nerve growth factor (NGF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), neurotrophin-3 (NT3) and neurotrophin-4 (NT4) (Bibel and Barde, 2000; Huang and Reichardt, 2001; Kalb, 2005). These proteins share many functional properties with classical neurotransmitters. For example, they are released at synapses and are required to be activated for activitydependent forms of synaptic plasticity. Neurotrophins can also affect membrane permeability for sodium ions on a similar time-scale as neurotransmitters (Kafitz et al., 1999; Thoenen, 2000; Poo, 2001; Blum and Konnerth, 2004). In addition to their biological roles, neurotrophins have been implicated in several neurological disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Burbarch et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2005), Parkinson's disease (Hyman et al., 1991, Porritt et al., 2005), and epilepsy (Tongiorgi et al., 2004).

Like several peptide neuromodulators, neurotrophins are synthesized as precursor forms (pro-neurotrophins) and proteolytically processed to generate the mature neurotrophin. Mammalian neurotrophin genes encode for glycosylated precursors (31-35kDa), which are subsequently cleaved intracellularly by proteolytic enzymes, such as furin and pro-convertases 1 and 2 (PC1 and PC2), to release the mature neurotrophins (see Figure 1.1; Roux and Barker, 2002). Neurotrophins are secreted both constitutively and by regulated pathways in neurons and non-endocrine cells. Mature neurotrophins have been shown to be involved in a variety of functions, including neuronal survival and maintenance of normal and activity-dependent functions of the nervous system (Seidah et al., 1996; Mowla et al., 1999; Mamidipudi and Wooten, 2002). Recent findings indicate that



Figure 1.1. Schematic representation of the cleavage of neurotrophin precursors (pro-neurotrophins) by proteolytic enzymes. The biologically active carboxy-terminal (depicted in green) is about 50% identical in all 4 neurotrophins. The mature protein (depicted in green) includes a characteristic pattern of 6 cysteine residues (C) that form three conserved cysteine bridges. The amino-terminal half of the proteins is functional in the biosynthesis of the proteins and includes a signal peptide (depicted in red) which mediates membrane transport and a pro-peptide (depicted in purple) which is important for protein folding. S.S, signal sequence; N, N-glycosylation sites.

pro-neurotrophins such as pro-NGF and pro-BDNF are also secreted and have biological activity in the normal brain (Lee et al., 2001; Dechant and Barde, 2002; Barker, 2004).

1.2. Neurotrophin receptors

The broad spectrum of biological activities exerted by the mature neurotrophins result from their ability to bind and activate two types of structurally unrelated receptors, the p75 neurotrophin receptor (p75^{NTR}) and the three members of the tropomyosin-related tyrosine kinase (Trk) receptor family i.e., TrkA, TrkB and TrkC. While p75^{NTR} binds all neurotrophins with similar affinities, TrkA preferentially interacts with NGF, TrkB with BDNF and NT4, and TrkC with NT3 (Kaplan and Miller, 1997; Friedman and Greene, 1999; Patapoutian and Reichardt, 2001; Dechant and Barde, 2002) (Figure 1.2). Bioactive mature neurotrophins, which are homodimers, can simultaneously engage two Trk receptors in a high-affinity complex that mediates receptor auto-phosphorylation and activation of well defined signaling pathways. Ultimately, the Trk receptor stimulates neuronal survival, differentiation, neurite outgrowth and myelination, in addition to synaptic plasticity and function (Huang and Reichardt, 2003; Nykjaer et al., 2005).

1.3. The structure of $p75^{NTR}$

p75^{NTR} was the first-discovered member of the tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptor superfamily, which mediates cellular differentiation and apoptosis (Chao, 1994). The human p75^{NTR} is synthesized as a soluble precursor containing a 28-amino acid signal peptide, which is cleaved from the molecule upon membrane insertion of the receptor. This leaves behind a 399 amino acid transmembrane protein that is *N*-glycosylated in the extracellular domain and *O*-glycosylated in the juxtamembrane or "stalk" domain (Large et al., 1989; Roux and Barker, 2002; Schor, 2005). Structurally, the p75^{NTR} receptor is divided into three parts: an extracellular neurotrophin-binding domain, a transmembrane domain and an intracellular domain. The extracellular domain contains a module of cysteine



Figure 1.2. Diagram showing the interaction and differing affinities of neurotrophin receptors, $p75^{NTR}$ and Trks, for neurotrophins. The low-affinity neurotrophin receptor p75 binds all of the neurotrophins with similar affinity. However, neurotrophin family members bind preferentially to various Trk receptors. TrkA preferentially interacts with NGF, TrkB with BDNF and NT4, and TrkC with NT3. *NT*, neurotrophin; *BDNF*, brainderived neurotrophic factor, *NGF*, nerve growth factor.

residues which is a characteristic feature of the TNF receptor superfamily. The transmembrane domain contains a γ -secretase cleavage site, whereas the intracellular cytoplasmic tail contains a "death domain" of about 80 amino acids as reported in a sub-group of "death receptors" associated with the TNF receptor superfamily. A notable difference is that while other members of the TNF receptor superfamily bind to trimeric ligands, two monomeric molecules of p75^{NTR} are required to bind a homodimer of NGF (Roux and Barker, 2002; Barker, 2004; He and Garcia, 2004; Schor, 2005).

1.4. Expression of $p75^{NTR}$ in the central nervous system (CNS) and its localization in cholinergic neurons

p75^{NTR} mRNA and protein are highly expressed in many cell populations of the CNS during mammalian development (Roux and Barker, 2002). However, it is down-regulated in the adult brain where it is found to be expressed only in selected neuronal populations. Nonetheless, p75^{NTR} re-expression occurs under certain experimental conditions such as mechanical damage, focal ischemia, axotomy, as well as in stroke, thus raising the possibility of a role for this receptor in the degeneration of neurons (Dechant and Barde, 2002).

In the normal adult rat brain, p75^{NTR} is expressed primarily in the basal forebrain cholinergic neurons and Purkinje cells of the cerebellum. The cholinergic neurons in the brain are usually evident in two basic organizations: local interneurons and projection neurons. Interneurons expressing cholinergic phenotype are located primarily in the striatum, olfactory tubercle and the islands of Calleja. As for projection neurons, there are two major groups: i) the basal forebrain cholinergic neurons, which include the medial septum, diagonal band of Broca (DBB), substantia innominata and nucleus basalis of Meynert (NBM), provide innervation to the entire cortex and hippocampus, and ii) the pontomesencephalotegmental cholinergic neurons which provide projection to the diencephalon, brainstem and cerebellum (Figure 1.3) (Cooper et al., 1996; Mufson et al., 2003). Although most



Figure 1.3. Anatomy of the central cholinergic system and its projections in the adult rat brain. Central cholinergic neurons are organized into two basic groups, i) local circuit cells, and ii) projection neurons. Local circuit neurons include interneurons within the striatum (STR), nucleus accumbens, olfactory tubercle (OLFB) and Islands of Calleja complex (ICJ), including cells of the medial septum (MS), diagonal band of Broca (DBN), substantia innominata (SI), magnocellular preoptic field and nucleus basalis (BAS); and b) the pontomesencephalotegemental cholinergic complex, which is comprised of cells in the pendunculopontine (PP) and laterodorsal tegmental nuclei (TN). The latter group of cells has ascending projections to the thalamus (THA) and descending projections to the pontine (PRN) and medullary reticular formations, deep cerebellar (CERE NUCLEI) and vesibular nuclei and cranial nerve nuclei. HIPPO, Hippocampus; IP, interpeduncular nucleus. of the cholinergic neurons located in the basal forebrain region express p75^{NTR}, a subset of cholinergic neurons located in the ventral palladium and ventral to the lenticular nucleus are found to be p75^{NTR}-negative. Other cholinergic neurons located in the striatum, olfactory tubercle or in the upper brainstem regions are also found not to express p75^{NTR}. In the cerebellum, the Purkinje cells, which are non-cholinergic, have been shown to express p75^{NTR} (Heckers et al., 1994; Bussmann and Sofroniew, 1999; Ferreira et al., 2001; Greferath et al., 2002).

Assimilated evidence suggests that preferential loss of the basal forebrain cholinergic neurons contributes to the progressive cognitive deficits observed in AD pathology. However, at present, the underlying cause of degeneration of these neurons remains unclear. The immunotoxin 192 IgG-saporin, a ribosomalinactivating toxin coupled to a monoclonal antibody against the rat p75^{NTR}, which is taken up selectively by forebrain cholinergic neurons expressing p75^{NTR}, has been used extensively to model the cognitive and neurochemical sequelae of cholinergic hypofunction observed in AD brains. Other non-cholinergic cell groups of the basal forebrain and the p75^{NTR}-negative cholinergic neurons of the striatum and basal forebrain regions remain unaffected by the toxin. At present, however, the underlying mechanisms by which 192 IgG-saporin triggers the loss of the basal cholinergic neurons have yet to be established (Heckers et al., 1994; Rossner, 1997; Perry et al., 2001, Hawkes et al., 2005). Studies using receptor autoradiography and in situ hybridization of receptor mRNA in the AD brain have shown a decrease in neurotrophin receptor levels, possibly implicating neurotrophin decline as one of the underlying causes of the loss of basal forebrain neurons in AD (Strada et al., 1992; Boissiere et al., 1997). A study by Yeo and colleagues used p75^{NTR}-/- mice to observe that although there was no effect on adult striatal cholinergic neurons, the absence of p75^{NTR} resulted in hypertrophy of Trk-A-immunoreactive neurons (Yeo et al., 1997).

1.5. p75^{NTR} interactors

The p75^{NTR} is a complex receptor possessing a myriad of cellular interactors, such as neurotrophin receptor-interacting MAGE homologue (NRAGE) [MAGE for melanoma antigen], TNF receptor-associated factors (TRAFs), Trks, neurotrophin receptor interacting protein (NRIF), p75^{NTR}-associated cell death executor (NADE), Schwann cell factor-1 (SC-1), receptor interacting protein (RIP-2), Fas-associated phosphatase-1 (FAP-1), as well as caveolin-1 (Casademunt et al., 1999; Chittka and Chao, 1999; Irie et al., 1999; Mukai et al., 2000; Schor, 2005). By interacting with these molecules, p75^{NTR} acts as a multifunctional receptor that can mediate various cellular functions (Schor, 2005).

1.6. Functions of the $p75^{NTR}$

The p75^{NTR} is known to be involved in a wide array of cellular processes, including neuronal migration, regulation of axonal outgrowth and neuronal survival as well as modulation of neuronal phenotype during development (Dechant and Barde, 2002; Schor, 2005). Paradoxically, the p75^{NTR} has been shown to exhibit both pro- and anti-apoptotic effects. It can act as an accessory to the Trk receptor by interacting with its cytosolic and transmembrane domains, thereby stimulating or hampering Trk signaling. In doing so, p75^{NTR} assumes the role of a co-receptor that refines Trk affinity and specificity for neurotrophins (Chao and Hempstead, 1995; Huang and Reichardt, 2003; Epa et al., 2004; Hannila et al., 2004). This is supported, in part, by the evidence that p75^{NTR} can be co-immunoprecipitated with Trks A, B and C in A293 cells transfected with both receptor types (Bibel et al., 1999). In addition to modulating Trk-mediated functions, p75^{NTR} also controls and conveys Trk-independent activities (Chao, 2003; Nykjaer et al., 2005).

A well established function of p75^{NTR} is to promote cell death in the nervous system in both *in vivo* and *in vitro* paradigms (Dechant and Barde, 2002; Barker, 2004). Like other members of the TNF receptor superfamily, the p75^{NTR} possesses an intracellular "death domain" which is capable of mediating

programmed cell death upon ligand binding. It has also been suggested that in some developing neurons, p75^{NTR} can trigger a constitutive death signal, which is silenced in the presence of Trk receptors, thereby mediating survival (Miller and Kaplan, 2001). Recent studies indicate that complete deletion of the p75^{NTR} leads to an increase in the number of forebrain cholinergic neurons, thus suggesting a potential role for the p75^{NTR} in the degeneration of these neurons (Naumann et al., 2002; Dechant and Barde, 2002; Nykjaer et al., 2005). Additionally, apoptosis of cultured neuronal cell lines, glia and a variety of primary neurons is known to be mediated by activation of p75^{NTR} (Casaccia-Bonnefil et al., 1996; Bamji et al., 1998; Davey and Davies, 1998; Soilu-Hanninen et al., 1999).

Despite the wealth of research on p75^{NTR}, the precise ligand it requires to induce apoptotic effects under in vitro or in vivo conditions remains unclear. Mature neurotrophins are not effective activators of p75^{NTR}-induced apoptosis, and high non-physiological concentrations are often required to induce even modest levels of cell death (Barker, 2004; Nykjaer et al., 2005). Additionally, there is mounting evidence to indicate that NGF and pro-NGF have opposing effects on cell survival and cell death, respectively (Nykjaer et al., 2004). Using a furin-resistant form of pro-NGF, it was shown that unprocessed NGF binds p75^{NTR} with high-affinity and is a potent inducer of p75^{NTR}-dependent apoptosis in sympathetic neurons. oligodendrocytes and in a vascular smooth muscle cell line (Lee et al., 2001; Nykjaer et al., 2004). The ability of pro-NGF to activate p75^{NTR} over TrkA was initially believed to reflect differences in affinity for the two receptors. However, pro-NGF binds equally well to p75^{NTR} and TrkA, thus raising questions as to the underlying mechanisms mediating the effects of pro-NGF. Recent studies provide compelling new evidence that pro-NGF induces cell death by interacting simultaneously with $p75^{NTR}$ as well as sortilin – a receptor that has been characterized to bind the neuropeptide neurotensin (Nykjaer et al., 2004) (Figure 1.4).

2. Neurotensin and its receptors

2.1.Neurotensin

Neurotensin is a tri-decapeptide isolated originally from the bovine hypothalamus by Carraway and Leeman in 1973. It acts as a neuromodulator in the CNS and as a tissue hormone in the periphery. Centrally, neurotensin has been implicated in multitude of functions, including nociception, thermoregulation, neuroendocrine regulation and dopamine transmission in nigrostriatal and mesolimbic pathways. In the periphery, neurotensin has been shown to regulate blood pressure, gastric acid secretion and lipid digestion (Nemeroff et al., 1992; Rosténe and Alexander, 1997; Sarret and Beaudet, 2003).

2.2. Neurotensin receptors

The actions of neurotensin in the CNS and peripheral tissues are known to be mediated by three transmembrane neurotensin receptors (NTR) referred to as NTR1, NTR2 and NTR3/sortilin (Vincent et al., 1999). Pharmacological identification of the first two receptors, i.e. NTR1 and NTR2, shows that they are traditional seven-transmembrane G-protein-coupled receptors which are distributed widely throughout the CNS and are known to modulate a variety of neurotensin functions. The NTR3 receptor, unlike NTR1 and NTR2, is a single transmembrane receptor identical to the sorting protein, sortilin, isolated originally from human brain homogenates (Tanaka et al, 1990; Vita et al, 1993; Mazella et al., 1996; Petersen et al., 1997; Mazella et al., 1998). NTR1 is a highaffinity neurotensin receptor whose intracellular signaling pathway is well established and known to involve phosphatidylinositol hydrolysis, intracellular calcium release as well as activation of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase (Chabry et al., 1994; Poinot-Chazel et al., 1996). SR48692 is a selective nonpeptide antagonist on this receptor that blocks all effects of neurotensin while SR142948A is a non-selective antagonist (Gully et al., 1993; Gully et al., 1997). The signaling of the levocabastine-sensitive NTR2 is more controversial and varies with the species from which the receptor is isolated, as well as the cell system used (Mazella et al., 2001). Interestingly, SR48692 and SR142948A,



Figure 1.4. Interaction of sortilin and p75^{NTR} to form a receptor complex at the cell surface which can mediate apoptotic cell death induced by proneurotrophins.

although antagonists on the NTR1 receptor, have agonist actions on the NTR2 receptor (Botto et al., 1997; Yamada et al., 1998).

2.3. Neurotensin receptor-3/Sortilin

Petersen et al. (1997) used receptor-associated protein (RAP) affinity chromatography to purify and characterize a novel 100kDa glycoprotein from membrane protein extracts of the human brain. Further characterization of this glycoprotein indicated that gp95/sortilin is synthesized as a precursor pro-peptide, which is incapable of ligand binding. The precursor peptide is usually converted to the mature ligand-binding receptor by furin-mediated cleavage, with the subsequent dissociation of a 5kDa peptide (i.e. 44 a.a.) and a 95kDa membrane protein. The human NTR3 receptor/sortilin contains 831 amino acid residues and possesses a long cysteine-rich extracellular domain, a single transmembrane region and a short cytoplasmic tail (Petersen et al., 1997; Mazella et al., 1998). This receptor belongs to a newly defined family of heterogenous type-1 receptors that are characterized by similar N-terminal domains related to the yeast vacuolar sorting protein, Vps10p, which acts as sorting receptor for molecules in the secretory pathway and on the cell membrane. This receptor family, in addition to sortilin, includes the sortilin-related receptor-containing LDLR class A repeats (SorLA) and sortilin-related Vps10 domain-containing receptor (SorCS) -1, -2 and -3. The Vps10p domain in sortilin, which can be considered the archetypal member, makes up the entire extracellular region, whereas additional unrelated ectodomains are found in the other four receptors (Jacobsen et al., 1996; Yamazaki et al., 1996; Petersen et al., 1997; Hermey et al., 1999; Kikuno et al., 1999; Nagase et al., 2000; Mazella, 2001). All these receptors are widely expressed in embryonic and adult neural tissues and are considered to be involved in a number of functions, including endocytosis of ligands, targeting proteins in the biosynthetic pathway for Golgi-endosome transport and transmembrane signaling following activation of the receptor (Hermans-Borgmeyer et al., 1999; Mazella, 2001; Sarret et al., 2003; Hermey et al., 2004; Chen et al., 2005).

2.4. Distribution of sortilin

Lin and colleagues (1997) used northern blot analysis to demonstrate that sortilin is highly expressed in the CNS and lungs, with lower levels in the heart and muscle, and virtually absent from the liver. In the adult rat brain, sortilin mRNA and protein have been shown to be widely distributed in various regions, including the cortex, striatum, hippocampus, cerebellum and brainstem regions (Petersen et al., 1997; Lin et al., 1997; Sarret et al., 2003). At the cellular level, the majority of the receptor (~90%) is believed to reside in intracellular compartments, in particular, the Golgi apparatus (Petersen et al., 1997; Mazella, 2001; Navarro et al., 2001; Nielsen et al., 2001). Using confocal laser microscopy, it has also been demonstrated that sortilin is localized primarily in the trans-Golgi region of COS-1 cells transfected transiently with full-length sortilin cDNA (Petersen et al., 1997). This is corroborated by further studies on the C13NJ human microglial cell line where sortilin is found to be localized in the syntaxin-6-positive trans-Golgi compartment (Martin et al., 2003). Under certain conditions, sortilin is translocated from intracellular compartments to the cell membrane. Using immunoadsorption of Glut4-containing vesicles (Lin et al., 1997) and cell surface biotinylation of membranes (Kandror and Pilch, 1994), it has been shown that insulin can cause translocation of sortilin to the cell surface.

2.5. Ligands of sortilin

Several studies have been undertaken to elucidate the ligands that can interact with sortilin. One issue that is becoming increasingly clear is the unrelated nature of these ligands. This receptor, apart from neurotensin, can also bind other ligands, including receptor-associated protein (RAP), sphingolipid activator protein (SAP), lipoprotein lipase (LpL), and the 44-amino acid peptide cleaved during maturation of the receptor precursor (Petersen et al., 1997; Willnow, 1998; Nielsen et al., 1999; Munck-Petersen et al., 1999; Lefrancois et al., 2003). Nonetheless, very little is currently known regarding the role of endogenous sortilin in mediating central and/or peripheral effects of neurotensin or other ligands.

2.6. Physiological role of sortilin

When transfected into epithelial cell lines, sortilin can bind and internalize neurotensin efficiently, which is followed by the recycling of the receptors to the cell membrane after dissociation of the ligand (Navarro et al., 2001). Moreover, neurotensin stimulates the growth of CHO cells stably transfected with sortilin, suggesting a possible signaling role for the receptor in regulating cell proliferation (Dal Farra et al., 2001). This is supported, in part, by the demonstration that sortilin mediates neurotensin-induced migration of human microglial cells via stimulation of both MAP kinase and phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase pathways (Martin et al., 2003). There is also evidence to suggest that sortilin is essential in the formation of Glut4 storage vesicles in 3T3-L1 adipocytes, and the acquisition of insulin responsiveness in adipocyte cells (Shi and Kandror, 2005). Sortilin is capable of transporting soluble lysosomal enzymes from the trans-Golgi apparatus to the lysosomes (Ni and Morales, 2006). This receptor contains an extracellular Vps10p domain and a cytoplasmic domain which is similar to the cationindependent mannose-6-phosphate receptor involved in the intracellular trafficking of newly synthesized lysosomal enzymes. Assimilated evidence suggests that sortilin can bind to the adaptor protein Golgi-associated, γ -adaptin homologous, ARF binding protein (GGA) and mediate the transport of soluble lysosomal enzymes, such as prosaposin and GM2 ganglioside activator protein (GM2AP), from Golgi apparatus to the lysosomes (Petersen et al., 1997; Takatsu et al., 2001; Ni and Morales, 2006; Ni et al., 2006). Lefrancois et al. (2005) used a dominant negative form of sortilin, lacking the GGA binding motif, as well as small interfering RNA interference (siRNAi) method to show that SAPs also require sortilin to be trafficked to the lysosomal compartment in COS7 cells. Additionally, it has been reported that sortilin acts as a key regulator of sorting newly synthesized BDNF to appropriate secretory pathways in neurosecretory and neuronal cells (Chen et al., 2005).

The role of sortilin in pro-inflammatory responses has been demonstrated by

Dicou et al. (2004) who showed that the receptor can mediate neurotensininduced expression of various cytokines/chemokines such as interleukin 1 β (IL-1 β), macrophage inflammatory protein-2 (MIP2), monocyte chemotactic protein 1 (MCP-1), TNF α and interleukin-6 (IL-6) in the N11 murine microglial cell line. These results suggest that sortilin may play a role in the recruitment and/or activation of brain macrophages, resulting in pro-inflammatory process that may contribute to pathophysiology of cerebral degenerative disorders such as Parkinson's disease and AD (Martin et al, 2005).

3. Link between sortilin and p75^{NTR}

Recently that Hempstead and colleagues have shown that sortilin binds directly to pro-NGF and pro-BDNF via their respective pro-domains and forms a receptor complex with p75^{NTR} at the cell surface. This sortilin-p75^{NTR} receptor complex appears to be involved in transducing the apoptotic effects of pro-NGF and pro-BDNF in cultured superior cervical ganglion cells. On the other hand, blocking the interaction of sortilin with pro-NGF/pro-BDNF inhibits apoptosis, thus suggesting a potential role for sortilin in p75^{NTR}-mediated cell death in cultured neurons (Nykjaer et al., 2004; Teng et al., 2005). These studies postulate that sortilin acts as a co-receptor and molecular switch which allows neurons expressing p75^{NTR} to respond to pro-neurotrophins and consequently trigger proapoptotic events. In the absence of sortilin, extracellular proteases may cleave pro-NGF to mature NGF, which then promotes Trk-mediated survival signals (Nykjaer et al, 2004). Recently, Volosin et al. (2006) have demonstrated that sortilin is involved in pro-NGF-mediated cell death in p75^{NTR}-positive basal forebrain neurons under in vivo paradigm. They have shown that kainic acidinduced seizures can elicit the production of pro-NGF in astrocytes prior to activation of caspases in p75^{NTR}-positive neurons located in the basal forebrain region, thus raising the possibility that pro-NGF may induce p75^{NTR}-mediated apoptotic signaling in vivo. This is substantiated by two lines of experimental evidence: i) kainic acid treatment induces a decreased loss of neurons in the basal forebrain region of p75^{NTR}-/- mice compared with wild-type animals, and ii) lysates from the basal forebrain region of kainic acid-treated rats induce the loss of basal forebrain cultured neurons, which can be prevented by antibodies to pro-NGF, p75^{NTR} and sortilin.

4. Hypothesis and objectives

On the basis of the aforementioned results, I hypothesize that sortilin may be expressed in p75^{NTR}-containing neurons in the adult rat brain and its level/ expression may be altered following *in vivo* administration 192 IgG-saporin.

To address this issue my specific objectives are:

- 1. to determine the distribution of sortilin in adult rat brain and its possible localization in neurons expressing p75^{NTR} and/or cholinergic phenotype.
- to determine possible alterations in sortilin expression/levels in selected brain regions following 192 IgG-saporin-induced degeneration of the p75^{NTR}expressing neurons.

CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Materials

Adult male Sprague Dawley rats (250-300g) used in all experiments were obtained from Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta and handled in accordance with the University of Alberta and Canadian Council on Animal Care Guidelines. Rabbit anti-sortilin antiserum was generously provided by C.M. Petersen (University of Aarhus, Denmark), goat anti-choline acetyltransferase (ChAT), rabbit anti-vesicular acetylcholine transporter (VAChT) and mouse anti-p75^{NTR} anti-sera were from Chemicon Intl. (Temecula, CA), mouse anti-glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) was from Sigma (Oakville, Canada), and mouse anti-ED1 was from Serotec (Raleigh, NC). Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies and antiβ-actin antiserum were obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA), Texas Red- and fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated secondary antibodies were from Jackson ImmunoResearch (West Grove, PA), and the elite Vectastain ABC kit was from Vector Laboratories (Burlingame, CA). Polyacrylamide electrophoresis gels (4-20%) were purchased from Invitrogen (Burlington, Canada), whereas the enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) kit was from New England Nuclear (Mississauga, Canada). The immunotoxin 192 IgGsaporin was purchased from Cedarlane (Hornby, Canada). All other chemicals were purchased from Fisher Scientific (Burlingham, Canada) or Sigma.

2. Methods

2.1. 192 IgG-saporin intracerebroventricular (icv) administration

Adult male rats were anesthetized by sodium pentobarbital (i.p., 65 mg/kg) and mounted on a stereotaxic frame. Each animal received a bilateral injection of either 192 IgG-saporin (0.4 μ g/ μ l; 5 μ l/ventricle) or an equivalent volume of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) through a 26-gauge Hamilton syringe into the lateral ventricles at the following coordinates: AP -1.4 mm, ML +1.8 mm, DV -3.5 mm, relative to Bregma. Following each injection, the cannula was left in place for 3 min to allow for diffusion of the injected substrate. Animals were then fixed by perfusion at 1, 4, 7, 14 and 28 days post-treatment (6-8 animals/group) for immunocytochemical staining or killed and selected brain regions [i.e., medial septum/DBB, hippocampus and striatum] were collected for Western blotting.

2.2. Western blotting

To determine the distribution of sortilin in the normal brain, six adult rats were decapitated and their brains were removed immediately. Areas of interest (i.e., olfactory bulb, frontal cortex, parietal cortex, striatum, hippocampus, brainstem and cerebellum) were dissected out and processed for Western blotting. Additionally, brain tissues from selected regions [i.e., medial septum/DBB, hippocampus and striatum] of control and 192 IgG-saporin-treated animals were processed, in parallel, for Western blotting as described earlier (Hawkes et al., 2005). Briefly, all tissues were first homogenized in RIPA-lysis buffer [20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8), 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% SDS, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Igepal CA-630, 50 mM NaF, 1 mM NaVO₃, 10 µg/ml leupeptin and 10 µg/ml aprotinin] and then dissolved in reduced sample buffer (62.5 mM Tris-HCl, pH 6.8; 2% [w/v] sodium dodecyl sulfate, 1% glycerol, and 0.1% bromophenol blue). Proteins were then separated by 4-20% polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis for 90 min before being transferred to Hybond-C Nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were then blocked for 1 hr with 8% non-fat milk in 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 150 mM NaCl, and 0.2% Tween-20 (TBST) and incubated overnight at 4°C with rabbit anti-sortilin (1:5,000) or goat-anti-ChAT (1:500) antibodies. Membranes were washed three times with TBST, incubated with appropriate horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (1:5,000) for 1 hr at room temperature and then visualized using an ECL detection kit (Hawkes and Kar, 2004). Blots were subsequently stripped and re-probed with anti- β -actin (1:1,000) to ensure equal protein loading. All blots were quantified using a Microcomputer Imaging Device (MCID) analysis system, and values obtained as relative optical densities (ROD). The ROD values for the various markers/ROD actin, represented as a percentage of control, were plotted on bar graphs for the different days of 192 IgG-saporin post-treatment. The data, which are presented as mean \pm SEM, were analyzed using one-way analysis of variances (ANOVA) followed by Newman-Keuls *post-hoc* analysis with significance set at p < 0.05.

2.3. Immunohistochemistry

Adult rats from normal control (i.e., untreated rats) and experimental groups (i.e. 192 IgG-saporin- and saline-treated rats) were fixed by transcardial perfusion and their brains were processed for immunohistochemical staining. Briefly, the rats were anesthetized with 8% chloral hydrate (VWR Canlab, Montreal, Canada) and then perfused transcardially first using 0.01M PBS (pH 7.2), followed by 4% paraformaldehyde. The brains were removed and post-fixed overnight in the same fixative, and then stored in 30% PBS-sucrose at 4°C. Brains were sectioned coronally (20 or 40 μ m) using a cryostat, collected in anti-freeze solution and then processed for immunohistochemical staining using the free-floating procedure as described earlier (Hawkes et al., 2006).

a) Enzyme-linked immunohistochemistry

For the enzyme-linked immunohistochemical procedures, 40 µm sections were washed in PBS, treated with 1% hydrogen peroxide for 30 min and then incubated overnight at room temperature with rabbit anti-sortilin (1:1,000), mouse anti-p75^{NTR} (1:1,000), and goat-anti-ChAT (1:1,000) antibodies. Sections were then washed with PBS, exposed to avidin-biotin reagents for 1 hr, and then developed with the glucose-oxidase-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (DAB)-nickel enhancement method, as described previously (Jafferali et al., 2000). Briefly, sections were washed twice in 0.1M acetate buffer [pH 6.0 adjusted with 10% acetic acid], followed by 10-20 min incubation with glucose oxidase-DAB-nickel solution. This was followed by two rinses with 0.1M acetate buffer and two rinses with PBS. Sections were mounted on slides, air dried and subsequently dehydrated through graded alcohols prior to mounting in Permount mounting media. Immunostained sections were then examined and photographed using a Zeiss Axioskop-2 microscope.

b) Double immunofluorescence labeling

For double immunofluorescence staining, 20 μ m brain sections from control and different experimental groups were incubated overnight with a combination of goat anti-ChAT (1:250), rabbit anti-sortilin (1:300), mouse anti-p75^{NTR} (1:200), mouse anti-GFAP (1:1000) or mouse anti-ED1 (1:50), rinsed with PBS and then exposed to the appropriate Texas Red- and FITC-conjugated secondary antibodies (1:200) for 2 hr at room temperature. The sections were then washed thoroughly with PBS, cover-slipped with Vectashield mounting medium (Vector Laboratories) and visualized under a Zeiss Axioskop-2 fluorescence microscope. Photomicrographs were then processed using Adobe photoshop 6.0.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.
RESULTS

1. The normal adult rat brain

1.1. Sortilin in the normal adult rat brain

Immunoblot analysis was performed to characterize antiserum's ability to recognize the native sortilin in the adult rat brain. As shown in Figure 3.1, the antiserum recognized a single band with an apparent molecular weight of 95 kDa, corresponding to the sortilin. As evident from a representative immunoblot, sortilin was present at all major regions of the brain, including olfactory bulb, frontal cortex, parietal cortex, striatum, hippocampus, brainstem and cerebellum. The overall expression of sortilin was found to be relatively lower in the olfactory bulb and striatum compared to other brain regions. At the cellular level, sortilin immunoreactivity is widely distributed, primarily in neuronal cell bodies and fibers, throughout the brain. The following section entails the distribution of immunoreactive sortilin observed in specific brain regions.

Basal forebrain and basal ganglia: Sortilin immunoreactivity was observed in all subfields of the basal forebrain including the septum, DBB and NBM (Figure 3.2A-E). In septal nuclei, a group of multipolar cells were moderately labeled (Figure 3.2A-C), whereas in the diagonal band complex, some weakly labeled neurons were found intermingled with moderately labeled neurons (Figure 3.2D). A number of sortilin-immunoreactive neurons were also seen in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis and NBM (Figure 3.2E). Additionally, intensely labeled sortilin immunoreactive neurons were found scattered throughout the globus pallidus (Figure 3.2F) and striatum (Figure 3.2G).

Cerebral cortex: Sortilin immunoreactivity was detected in most layers of the neocortex with varying degrees of staining intensity. The labeling was high in layers IV-VI, moderate in layers II-III and relatively low in layer I (Figure 3.2H, I). The laminar distribution of sortilin-labeled neurons was particularly striking in the cingulate cortex and in the frontoparietal cortex. In the piriform cortex, intensely labeled sortilin immunoreactive neurons were evident along with a

Figure 3.1 Western blot of sortilin in different regions of the adult rat brain. Sortilin antiserum recognized a single band of approximately 95kDa, corresponding to the native sortilin protein. Amount of protein loading has been shown by re-probing the blot with anti-actin (lower panel) antiserum. OB, olfactory bulb; C, frontal cortex; P, parietal cortex; ST, striatum; H, hippocampus; BS, brainstem; CB, cerebellum.



Figure 3.2 Photomicrographs of transverse sections of the adult rat brain showing the distribution of sortilin immunoreactive neurons and fibres in the lateral septum (A), medial septum (B, C), diagonal band of Broca (D), nucleus basalis of Meynert (E), globus pallidus (F), striatum (G) and frontal cortex (H, I). Note that the labeling of sortilin is confined mostly to the cell soma and, to some extent, to the processes.



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

smaller population of weakly labeled neurons.

Hippocampus and Amygdala: The hippocampal formation showed some of the most intense sortilin immunoreactivity in the brain (Figure 3.3A-C). Within the Ammon's horn, strong labeling was apparent in the CA1-CA3 pyramidal cells and their apical dendrites (Figure 3.3A, B), but occasional multipolar neurons were also found scattered in the strata oriens and stratum radiatum. Within the dentate gyrus, granule cell somata were moderately labeled, whereas little sortilin immunoreactivity was evident in the adjacent molecular layer. A number of sortilin-positive polymorphic neurons were also observed in the hilus region of the hippocampus (Figure 3.3C). In the amygdaloid complex, several groups of moderately labeled sortilin-immunoreactive cell bodies were evident in the cortical, medial and basolateral amygdaloid nuclei. Additionally, some multipolar cells exhibiting rather weak immunoreactivity were also apparent in the anterior amygdaloid area and central amygdaloid nucleus.

Hypothalamus and Thalamus: In the hypothalamus rather moderate neuronal labeling was observed in the supraoptic and paraventricular nuclei, lateral hypothalamic area, lateral preoptic area, arcuate nucleus and mammillary bodies, whereas neurons located in the anterior hypothalamus showed rather weak labeling. A number of medium-sized sortilin immunostained neurons were observed throughout the thalamus (Figure 3.3D, E). These neurons which were moderately labeled were evident in anterior dorsal, anterior ventral, reticular, medial thalamic nuclei and the ventral and posterior nuclear groups.

Midbrain: Moderate somatodendritic labeling was observed in the superficial gray layers of the superior colliculus and in the central gray matter. The substantia nigra pars reticulata was characterized by multipolar neurons with moderate sortilin immunoreactivity, whereas the pars compacta exhibited rather weak labeling. Neurons of the red and oculomotor nuclei also displayed moderate immunoreactivity. Weakly labeled neurons were apparent in the ventral tegmental Figure 3.3 Photomicrographs of transverse sections of adult rat brain showing the distribution of sortilin immunoreactive neurons and fibres in the hippocampus (A), pyramidal cell layers of CA1 region of the hippocampus (B), the granule cell layer and hilus of dentate gyrus (C), thalamus (D-lower magnification, E-higher magnification), motorneurons of the brainstem (F) and the Purkinje cells of the cerebellum (G). Note the intense sortilin labeling in the hippocampal neurons of the adult rat brain.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



area, intermediate gray layer of superior colliculus and mesencephalic trigeminal nucleus.

Brainstem: Sortilin immunoreactivity was visible at all brainstem levels. A population of large multipolar neurons was encountered in the pontine reticular nucleus, whereas numerous moderately labeled neurons were seen in the inferior colliculus, abducens nucleus and reticulotegmental nucleus of pons. However, relatively strong labeling was evident particularly in the motor trigeminal nucleus, pontine nucleus and in the facial as well as vestibular nuclei (Figure 3.3F).

Cerebellum: A common pattern of sortilin immunoreactivity prevailed throughout the cerebellum. In the cortex, Purkinje cells were rather intensely stained and often seen in continuity with their stained dendritic shafts extending into the molecular layer (Figure 3.3G). The granule cells exhibited rather weak staining, whereas a number of deep cerebellar nuclei showed numerous moderately labeled immunoreactive cell bodies.

1.2. $p75^{NTR}$ and ChAT in the normal adult rat brain

Earlier studies have shown that majority of the basal forebrain cholinergic neurons express p75^{NTR} receptor (Torres et al., 1994; Rossner, 1997). In keeping with these results, my double labeling experiments revealed that all ChAT-positive cholinergic neurons located in the medial septum (Figure 3.4A-C) and in the vertical and horizontal limbs of the diagonal band complex (Figure 3.4D-F) express p75^{NTR} immunoreactivity. In the NBM, the majority of the cholinergic neurons express p75^{NTR}, but some ChAT-positive neurons were found to be p75^{NTR} negative (Figure 3.4G-I). Additionally, striatal interneurons and motorneurons of the brainstem which exhibit ChAT immunoreactivity were found not to express p75^{NTR}.

1.3. Sortilin and ChAT in the normal adult rat brain

To determine if sortilin is localized in basal forebrain cholinergic neurons, I

32

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



performed double immunofluorescence labeling experiments using antisera against ChAT and sortilin. My dual labeling studies revealed that sortilin is colocalized with all ChAT-positive cholinergic neurons in the medial septum (Figure 3.5A-F), DBB (Figure 3.5G-L) and NBM (Figure 3.6A-F). In addition, the cholinergic interneurons of the striatum (Figure 3.6G-I) and motorneurons of the brainstem region (Figure 3.6M-O) exhibited sortilin immunoreactivity.

1.4. Sortilin and $p75^{NTR}$ in the normal adult rat brain

After establishing that majority of the basal forebrain cholinergic neurons exhibit p75^{NTR} immunoreactivity, I wanted to evaluate the possible expression of sortilin in p75^{NTR} positive neurons. My dual labeling experiments clearly revealed that immunoreactive sortilin is localized in all p75^{NTR}-positive neurons in the medial septum (Figure 3.7A-F), vertical and horizontal limbs of the diagonal band complex (Figure 3.7G-L) and NBM (Figure 3.8A-F). While many sortilin-positive neurons located throughout the brain, including the brainstem motorneurons, were negative for p75^{NTR} immunoreactivity (Figure 3.8G-I), Purkinje cells of the cerebellum expressed both p75^{NTR} and sortilin immunoreactivity (Figure 3.8J-L).

2. 192 IgG-saporin-treated rat brain

2.1. Cholinergic system in 192 IgG-saporin-treated rat brain

To determine whether degeneration of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons expressing p75^{NTR} can lead to a concomitant alteration of sortilin levels, I first evaluated the time-dependent effects of 192 IgG-saporin administration on cholinergic neurons located in the basal forebrain region of the adult rat brain. A single icv injection of 192 IgG-saporin, as reported earlier (Torres et al., 1994; Rossner, 1997; Wiley, 2001; Hawkes et al., 2005), induced an extensive bilateral loss of ChAT-immunoreactive cell bodies in the basal forebrain areas [i.e., septum, vertical and horizontal limbs of DBB and NBM] from day 4 post-injection onwards (Figure 3.9A, D). At the cellular level, some sections displayed a few residual ChAT-positive neurons in the NBM, but not in other areas of the

Figure 3.5 Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of transverse sections of control adult rat brain showing the distribution of sortilin (A, D, G, J) and ChAT (B, E, H, K) immunoreactivities and their co-localization (C, F, I, L) in the medial septum (A-F) and diagonal band of Broca (G-L). As evident from the figures, all ChAT-positive cholinergic neurons are found to express sortilin. Figures D-F and J-L are higher magnification of Figures A-C and G-I, respectively. Solid arrows indicate neurons exhibiting co-localization of sortilin and ChAT, whereas open arrows show a lack of co-localization between sortilin and ChAT.



Figure 3.6 Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of transverse sections of control adult rat brain showing the distribution of sortilin (A, D, G, J, M) and ChAT (B, E, H, K, N) immunoreactivities and their possible colocalization (C, F, I, L, O) in the nucleus basalis of Meynert (A-F), striatum (G-I), hippocampus (J-L) and brainstem motorneurons (M-O). A subset of sortilin-positive neurons in the nucleus basalis shows ChAT immunoreactivity (A-F). Co-localization of sortilin and ChAT is also seen in cholinergic interneurons of the striatum, pyramidal layer fibres of the hippocampus, as well as in motorneurons of the brainstem. Figures D-F are higher magnifications of Figures A-C. Solid arrows indicate neurons exhibiting co-localization of sortilin and ChAT, whereas open arrows show a lack of co-localization between sortilin and ChAT.



Figure 3.7 Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of transverse sections of control adult rat brain showing the distribution of sortilin (A, D, G, J) and p75^{NTR} (B, E, H, K) immunoreactivities and their possible co-localization (C, F, I, L) in the medial septum (A-F) and diagonal band of Broca (G-L). As evident from the figures, a subset of sortilin-positive neurons in these areas exhibit p75^{NTR}-immunoreactivity. Figures D-F and J-L are higher magnifications of Figures A-C and G-I, respectively. Solid arrows indicate neurons exhibiting co-localization of sortilin and p75^{NTR}, whereas open arrows show a lack of co-localization between sortilin and p75^{NTR}.



Figure 3.8 Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of transverse sections of control adult rat brain showing the distribution of sortilin (A, D, G, J) and p75^{NTR} (B, E, H, K) immunoreactivities and their possible colocalization (C, F, I, L) in the nucleus basalis of Meynert (A-F), motorneurons of the brainstem (G-I) and Purkinje cells of the cerebellum (J-L). Note that sortilin and p75^{NTR} are co-localized in the nucleus basalis (A-F) and cerebellum (J-L), but not in the brainstem motorneurons (G-I). Figures D-F are higher magnifications of Figures A-C. Solid arrows indicate neurons exhibiting co-localization of sortilin and p75^{NTR}, whereas open arrows show a lack of co-localization between sortilin and p75^{NTR}.



Figure 3.9 Photomicrographs showing the distribution of ChAT immunoreactivity in the medial septum/diagonal band of Broca (A, D), hippocampus (B, E) and striatum (C, F) of control animals (A-C) and in animals 7 days after treatment with 192 IgG-saporin (D-F). Bilateral injection of 192 IgG-saporin induced an almost complete loss of cholinergic neurons by day 7 after treatment in the medial septum/diagonal band of Broca (A, D) and their fibre projections to the hippocampus (B, E), whereas cholinergic interneurons within the striatum remained unaffected (C, F). G-L; Western blots and histograms depicting alterations in ChAT levels at 1, 4, 7, 14, 28 days in the septum/diagonal band of Broca (G, J), hippocampus (H, K) and striatum (I, L) following administration of 192 IgG-saporin relative to levels in saline-treated controls (Ctl). Histograms (J-L) represent mean ± SEM ChAT levels from at least three separate experiments, each of which was replicated 3-4 times. Note the significant decrease in ChAT levels from 4 day post-treatment onwards in the septum/diagonal band of Broca and hippocampus but not in the striatum of 192 IgG-saporin-treated animals. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 (ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls post hoc test).



medial septum and DBB. As expected, the loss of cholinergic cell bodies was accompanied by a parallel loss of ChAT-positive fibers in the hippocampus (Figure 3.9B, E). The cholinergic interneurons of the striatum, in keeping with earlier studies (Heckers et al., 1994; Rossner, 1997), were unaffected by 192 IgG-saporin treatment (Figure 3.9C, F). These morphological data were substantiated by Western blot analysis which showed a statistically significant reduction in ChAT enzyme levels in the medial septum/DBB and hippocampus, but not in the striatum, at 4, 7, 14 and 28 days following administration of 192 IgG-saporin. One day-treated rats did not show any significant alteration in ChAT levels in any regions of the brain (Figure 3.9G-L).

2.2. p75^{NTR}-positive neurons in 192 IgG-saporin treated rat brain

In keeping with the loss of cholinergic neurons, p75^{NTR} immunoreactivity was found to be completely absent in medial septum, vertical and horizontal limbs of DBB and NBM region of 192 IgG-saporin treated rats from 7-day post-treatment onwards (Figure 3.10A, C). A corresponding loss of p75^{NTR}-positive fibers was observed in the hippocampus of the treated rats (Figure 3.10B, D). Earlier studies have shown that p75^{NTR} immunoreactivity is usually not present in the striatum of the normal adult rat brain but is induced following metabolic or excitotoxic injury (Kokaia et al., 1998; Andsberg et al., 2001; Greferath et al., 2002; Hanbury et al., 2002). In contrast to these results, p75^{NTR} expression was not evident at any time in the striatal region of the 192 IgG-saporin-treated rats.

2.3. Sortilin in 192 IgG-saporin treated rat brain

Given the evidence that p75^{NTR} is co-expressed with sortilin, I evaluated the levels/ expression of sortilin at different times in selected brain regions following administration of 192 IgG-saporin (Figure 3.11A-L). My Western blot analysis revealed that sortilin levels are not significantly altered at any time (i.e., 1, 4, 7, 14 and 28 days post lesion) either in the septum/DBB complex, hippocampus or striatal region of the immunotoxin-treated rats compared to saline-treated control

Figure 3.10 Photomicrographs showing the distribution of $p75^{NTR}$ immunoreactivity in the medial septum/diagonal band of Broca (A, C), hippocampus (B, D) of control animals (A, B) and in animals 7 days post-treatment with 192 IgG-saporin (C, D). Bilateral injection of 192 IgG-saporin induced an almost complete loss of $p75^{NTR}$ -positive neurons by day 7 post-treatment in the medial septum/diagonal band of Broca (A, C) and their fibre projections to the hippocampus (B, D).



Figure 3.11 Photomicrographs showing the distribution of sortilin immunoreactivity in the medial septum/diagonal band of Broca (A, D), hippocampus (B, E) and striatum (C, F) of control animals (A-C) and in animals 7 days after treatment with 192 IgG-saporin (D-F). Bilateral injection of 192 IgG-saporin did not induce visible alteration in sortilin immunoreactivity either in the medial septum/diagonal band of Broca (A, D), hippocampus (B, E) or striatum (C, F). Western blots and histograms showing no significant change in sortilin levels in the septum/diagonal band of Broca (G, J), hippocampus (H, K) and striatum (I, L) following administration of 192 IgG-saporin relative to saline-treated controls (Ctl). Histograms (J-L) represent mean \pm SEM sortilin levels from at least three separate experiments, each of which was replicated 3-4 times. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 (ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls *post hoc* test).



rats (Figure 3.11G-L). This is substantiated by my immunocytochemical data which showed no marked alteration in sortilin immunoreactivity in the basal forebrain or hippocampal regions following administration of 192 IgG-saporin (Figure 3.11A, B, D, E). Additionally, the cholinergic interneurons of the striatum which are p75^{NTR}-negative also showed no change in immunoreactive sortilin in the treated rats (Figure 3.11C, F). My dual labeling studies with ChAT/sortilin (see Figure 3.12A-L) and p75^{NTR}/sortilin (see Figure 3.12M-T) further revealed that selective degeneration of the p75^{NTR}-positive cholinergic neurons did not induce any observable change in sortilin immunoreactivity in surviving neurons that are located in the medial septum, DBB or NBM regions of the immunotoxin-treated rats.

Earlier studies have reported that selective loss of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons following administration of 192 IgG-saporin can induce activation of astrocytes and microglia in the basal forebrain regions (Hollerbach et al., 1998; Lemke et al., 1999). To determine whether immunotoxin treatment can trigger sortilin expression in glial cells, I performed double labeling experiments with sortilin and GFAP as well as sortilin and ED1 in the basal forebrain regions of 7day post-lesion rats (see Figure 3.13). My results clearly revealed that 192 IgG-saporin, as reported earlier (Hollerbach et al., 1998; Lemke et al., 1999), can induce activation of astrocytes as well as microglia in the basal forebrain regions of the treated rats. However, sortilin is not found to be expressed in GFAP-labeled astrocytes in the basal forebrain regions of either control (Figure 3.13B, F) or 192-IgG saporin-treated (Figure 3.13D, H) rats. Similarly, ED1-labeled reactive microglia, which are usually not apparent in control rats (Figure 3.13L, P).

Figure 3.12 Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of transverse sections of the adult rat brain showing the distribution of ChAT (A, C, E, G, I, K) and sortilin (B, D, F, H, J, L) immunoreactivities in the diagonal band of Broca (A-D), nucleus basalis of Meynert (E-H) and striatum (I-L) of control rats (A, B, E, F, I, J) and of rats 7 days after treatment with 192 IgG-saporin (C, D, G, H, K, L). There is a loss of ChAT immunoreactivity in the DBB (A, C) and nucleus basalis (E, G) 7 days after saporin treatment. However, striatal cholinergic interneurons are resistant to saporin toxicity (I, K). There is also no visible change in sortilin expression in the diagonal band of Broca (B, D), nucleus basalis (F, H) and striatum (J, L) following saporin treatment.

Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of transverse sections of the adult rat brain showing the distribution of $p75^{NTR}$ (M, O, Q, S) and sortilin (N, P, R, T) immunoreactivities in the diagonal band of Broca (M-P) and nucleus basalis of Meynert (Q-T) of control (M, N, Q, R) and 7 day 192 IgG-saporin-treated rats (O, P, S, T). As evident from the photomicrographs, saporin administration induced a complete loss of $p75^{NTR}$ immunoreactivity in the diagonal band of Broca (M, O) and nucleus basalis of Meynert (Q, S), but no visible alteration in sortilin expression in the respective regions (N, P, R, T) of the treated rats.



Figure 3.13 Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of transverse sections of the adult rat brain showing the distribution of immunoreactive sortilin (A, C, E, G) and GFAP (B, D, F, H) in the medial septum (A-D) and diagonal band of Broca (E-H) of control rats (A, B, E, F) and in rats after 7 days treatment with 192 IgG-saporin (C, D, G, H). Note that sortilin is not expressed in GFAP-labeled astrocytes either in control or in saporin-treated rats.

Double immunofluorescence photomicrographs of transverse sections of the adult rat brain showing the distribution of sortilin (I, K, M, O) and ED1 (J, L, N, P) in the medial septum (I-L) and diagonal band of Broca (M-P) of control rats (I, J, M, N) and after 7 days treatment with 192 IgG-saporin (K, L, O, P). Note that sortilin immunoreactivity is not evident in ED1-labeled microglia either in control or in saporin-treated rats.

A	В	С	D
£	F	G	H
I	J	K	L
Μ	N	0	Р

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Table 3.1. Distribution and co-localization of sortilin with ChAT-positive as well as $p75^{NTR}$ -positive neuronal cell bodies in the adult rat brain. The number of neuronal cell bodies observed in different brain regions are depicted as high (+++), moderate (++), low (+) and absent (-).

Area	Sortilin	ChAT	p75 ^{NTR}
Cortex			
Layer I	-	-	-
Layer II	+++	-	-
Layer III	++++	-	_
Laver IV	+++	-	-
Laver V	+++	-	-
Basal forebrain			
Medial septum	↓ ++++	++	++
Lateral septum	+++	-	-
Diagonal band of Broca	↓ +++++	+++	++
Nucleus basalis of Meynert	++++	++	++
Basal ganglia			
Nucleus accumbens	++	_	_
Caudate-nutamen	++++	++	_
Globus pallidus	++	_	_
Claustrum	++		_
Amyodala			
Central nucleus	++		
Basomedial nucleus		-	-
Basolateral nucleus	، ۱ ــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ	-	-
Hippocampus	· · · ·	-	-
CA1			
CA2		+	
CA3			
Dentate ovrus		I	Т
Granule cells			
Hilus	++	-	-
Thelemus		-	
Anterior dorsal nucleus			
Anterior ventral nucleus		-	-
Medial thalamic nuclei		-	-
Medial geniculate nucleus		-	-
Lateral geniculate nucleus		-	-
Lateral generate intereus	! 		-
Supraontic nucleus			
Paraventricular pucleus		-	-
A rougte pucleus	; ; +++++	-	-
Mammillary nucleus		-	-
Brainstem		-	-
Superior colliculus	1.1		
Inferior colliculus	++	-	-
Red pucleus	++	-	-
Periaqueductal gray		-	-
Motor trigeminal nucleus	 	- +	-
Cerebellum	.1.1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-
Careballar cortex			
Granule cell lover			
Durkinie cell laver		-	-
Furkinje cen layer	++	-	++

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

DISCUSSION

My results demonstrate that sortilin is widely distributed in all regions of the adult rat brain. A subset of sortilin-immunoreactive neurons located in the basal forebrain region and cerebellum was found to express p75^{NTR} immunoreactivity. Additionally, sortilin immunoreactivity was evident in ChAT-positive cholinergic neurons of the basal forebrain, striatum and brainstem regions. Administration of 192 IgG-saporin induced a significant loss of ChAT and p75^{NTR} immunoreactivity in the basal forebrain (i.e., medial septum, DBB and NBM) and hippocampal regions but not in the striatum. Interestingly, sortilin level/expression was not found to be significantly altered either in the basal forebrain or hippocampus of the immunotoxin-treated rats compared to saline-treated control rats. Collectively, these results provide evidence to suggest that although sortilin is co-localized with p75^{NTR}-positive cells, its levels/expression may be differentially regulated than p75^{NTR} levels/expression.

1. Widespread distribution of sortilin in the normal adult rat brain

The results obtained in this study revealed that sortilin immunoreactivity, as reported earlier (Sarret et al., 2003), is widely distributed throughout the normal adult rat brain. At the cellular level, most of the immunoreactivity appears to be associated with the somatodendritic compartments but the intensity of staining varies distinctly from region to region within the brain. Areas that express relatively high levels of sortilin immunoreactivity include the striatum, deeper layers (layers IV and V) of the cortex, pyramidal and granule cell layers of the hippocampus, selected hypothalamic and thalamic nuclei, Purkinje cells of the cerebellum and motorneurons of the brainstem. Moderate to weak neuronal labeling was apparent in various brain regions, including basal forebrain areas, midbrain areas, superior colliculus and granule cells of the cerebellum. The distribution of sortilin-immunoreactive cell bodies also largely conformed to the localization of sortilin mRNA except in a few areas such as the medial geniculate nucleus and the dorsal raphe nucleus in which there were neurons weakly positive for sortilin mRNA but no immunoreactive cells (Sarret et al., 2003). This
discrepancy between mRNA expression and immunoreactivity may be due to variations in the stability of the messenger among different brain regions or to differential regulation of translation levels of the protein.

Many of the brain regions enriched with sortilin-immunoreactive neurons have previously been reported as being richly innervated by neurotensinergic axon terminals (Jennes et al., 1982; Emson et al., 1985), thereby supporting the concept that sortilin may act to regulate the function of neurotensin. These regions include the frontal cortex, the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, the medial septum, amygdaloid nuclei, caudate putamen, various thalamic and hypothalamic nuclei and the spinal trigeminal nucleus (Jennes et al., 1982; Emson et al., 1985). It is of interest to note that only a small proportion of sortilin was found in association with the plasma membrane by electron microscopy in brain neurons (Sarret et al., 2003) and by subcellular fractionation in non-neuronal cells (Petersen et al., 1997; Morris et al., 1998), thus raising doubt about the ability of the receptor to regulate neuromodulation. However, this finding does not preclude the possibility that sortilin, as demonstrated for other receptor types, can be targeted to the plasma membrane under specific physiological and/or pharmacological conditions (Stroh et al., 2000; Cahill et al., 2001). Interestingly, sortilin immunoreactivity is also evident in many brain regions displaying neurotensin-positive cell bodies such as lateral septum, DBB, bed nucleus of stria terminalis, amygdaloid nuclei, substantia nigra, ventral tegmental area and periaqueductal gray (Jennes et al., 1982; Emson et al., 1985). Given the evidence that sortilin is associated mostly with the Golgi apparatus and is involved in sorting function (Morris et al., 1998; Nielsen et al., 1999, 2001), it is possible that sortilin localized within neurotensinexpressing cells may have a critical role in the intracellular sorting of neurotensin to vesicles.

The expression of sortilin is found to overlap extensively with that of the other two neurotensin receptors, NTR1 and NTR2 (Moyse et al., 1987; Boudin et al., 1996; Alexander and Leeman, 1998; Sarret and Beaudet, 2003). A number of

earlier studies have shown that exogenously applied neurotensin can be internalized into neurons in a NTR1-dependent manner in both ex vivo and in vivo paradigms (Castel et al., 1992; Faure et al., 1995). Given the established role of sortilin in the sorting of ligands to the trans-Golgi network (Morris et al., 1998; Nielsen et al., 1999, 2001), it is tempting to speculate that it may be involved in the internalization of neurotensin into neurons in which it is co-expressed with NTR1. Additionally, it is possible that sortilin can mediate the effects of neurotensin by forming a heterodimer with NTR1 or NTR2 as reported for several other neuropeptide receptors (Angers et al., 2002; Brady and Limbird, 2002). This is partly supported by experimental evidence which showed that sortilin and NTR1 can form complexes in HT29 intestinal cells that exhibit pharmacological properties different from those of NTR1 alone, specifically regarding the modulation of inositol phosphate turnover and MAP kinase activity (Martin et al., 2002). Thus, given the widespread distribution of sortilin over a variety of neuronal populations in adult rat brain, it is not unlikely to consider that the receptor may be involved, apart from its intracellular sorting/trafficking role, in the regulation of a wide spectrum of neurotensin functions such as hypothermia, pain, dopamine transmission and neuroendocrine effects (Nemeroff et al., 1992; Rosténe and Alexander, 1997; Sarret and Beaudet, 2003).

2. Expression of sortilin in p75^{NTR}-positive cholinergic neurons of the adult rat brain

Earlier studies have shown that ChAT-positive cholinergic neurons are widely but selectively distributed throughout the CNS (Semba and Fibiger, 1989; Everitt and Robbins, 1997; Kar, 2002; Mufson et al., 2003). A subset of central cholinergic neurons located in the basal forebrain region, which rely on NGF for their survival and maintenance, are known to express p75^{NTR} (Hefti et al., 1985; Fischer et al., 1987; Kromer, 1987; Friedman et al., 1993). Although I and others have shown immunohistochemically that cholinergic interneurons of the adult rat striatum are p75^{NTR}-negative (Heckers et al., 1994; Rossner, 1997; Perry et al., 2001; Hawkes et al., 2005), Smith and colleagues (2004), using reverse

transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) have demonstrated the presence of p75^{NTR} mRNA in these cells, thus suggesting that either low amounts and/or limited sensitivity of the immunohistochemical methods may preclude p75^{NTR} detection in adult rat striatum. Cerebellar Purkinje cells which are ChAT-negative are found to express p75^{NTR} immunoreactivity, as reported earlier (Heckers et al., 1994; Waite et al., 1995; Perry et al., 2001). My double immunolabeling studies further revealed that sortilin is expressed in all ChAT-positive neurons located in the basal forebrain region (i.e., medial septum, DBB and NBM) and striatum as well as in brainstem motorneurons. Additionally, sortilin is found to be co-localized with p75^{NTR} in both the basal forebrain and cerebellar Purkinje cells. These results, taken together, suggest that sortilin immunoreactivity is apparent in all ChAT- as well as p75^{NTR}-positive neurons in all major regions of the adult rat brain studied in the present investigation.

There is evidence that neurotensin can regulate endogenous acetylcholine release from the adult rat cortex (Lapchak et al., 1990) and can promote gamma and theta cortical activity (Cape et al., 2000). Although neurotensin receptors have been shown to be localized in the basal forebrain cholinergic neurons (Faure et al., 1995; Sarret and Beaudet, 2003), at present, the receptor subtype(s) involved in mediating the effects of neurotensin on central cholinergic system remains unclear. Given the evidence that sortilin is expressed in basal forebrain cholinergic neurons and can also regulate intracellular signaling (Martin et al., 2002, 2003), it will be of interest to determine the possible implication of this receptor in mediating the effects of neurotensin on cholinergic neurons. The presence of sortilin in all p75^{NTR}- positive basal forebrain cholinergic neurons is in agreement with a recent study which showed that expression and interaction between these two receptors may underlie Pro-NGF-mediated death of these neurons following kainic acid treatment (Volosin et al., 2006). Since p75^{NTR} and sortilin can act as co-receptors in mediating apoptotic cell death in the basal forebrain region (Volosin et al., 2006), it would be of interest to evaluate whether all cells expressing both receptors are also TrkA-positive. This may help in

addressing whether the p75^{NTR}-sortilin-mediated "death signal" can be regulated or influenced by altered expression/levels of TrkA immunoreactivity.

3. Cholinergic system in 192 IgG-saporin-treated rat brain

The immunotoxin 192 IgG-saporin was constructed from 192 IgG, a monoclonal antibody to the rat low affinity NGF receptor and the ribosome-inactivating toxin saporin. This toxin is selectively taken up by neurons expressing p75^{NTR} and retrogradely transported to the soma where it is cleaved, allowing saporin to inhibit ribosomal protein synthesis leading to neuronal death (Heckers et al., 1994; Rossner, 1997; Wiley, 2001). When administered directly into the cholinergic basal forebrain nuclei, 192 IgG-saporin is highly selective for the cholinergic basal forebrain neurons, but icv injection of the immunotoxin can affect all p75^{NTR}-expressing neurons in the brain (Torres et al., 1994; Rossner, 1997; Perry et al., 2001; Hawkes et al., 2005). This immunotoxin has been extensively used not only to evaluate the behavioral and neurochemical abnormalities observed following cholinergic hypofunction but also to model neuropathological consequences associated with AD pathology (Heckers et al., 1994; Rossner, 1997; Perry et al., 2001; Hawkes et al., 2005). In keeping with these results, I observed an almost complete degeneration of the forebrain cholinergic neurons by 7 days following a single icv administration of the immunotoxin. This was accompanied by a substantial depletion in the level/expression of ChAT in the hippocampus, which receives projections from basal forebrain cholinergic neurons (Semba and Fibiger, 1989; Everitt and Robbins, 1997). The striatal cholinergic interneurons, which do not express p75^{NTR}, were relatively spared. Additionally, a few p75^{NTR}-negative basal forebrain cholinergic neurons located in the ventral pallidum and ventral to the lenticular nucleus were found to be spared by the immunotoxin. This is consistent with earlier findings in rat (Heckers et al., 1994) and mouse (Berger-Sweeney et al., 2001) and is believed to be account for intact cholinergic innervations in the amygdala following 192 IgG-saporin administration. More recently, our lab has shown that 192 IgG-saporin-induced degeneration of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons is accompanied by a decrease in the levels of phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase/phospho-Akt and increased glycogen synthase kinase-3 β activity, thus raising the possibility that altered intracellular signaling, apart from ribosomal inactivation, may have a role in mediating the toxic effects of the immunotoxin (Hawkes et al., 2005).

4. Sortilin in 192 IgG-saporin-treated rat brain

Although numerous studies have shown that p75^{NTR} can act as an apoptotic receptor during development and following injury, there has been controversy about the precise ligand requirements for these effects. Mature neurotrophins are not effective activators of p75^{NTR}-induced apoptosis as high non-physiological concentrations are often required to induce even modest levels of cell death (Barker, 2004; Bronfman and Fainzilber, 2004; Kaplan and Miller, 2004; Nykjaer et al., 2005). Using the furin-resistant form of pro-NGF, Hempstead and colleagues demonstrated for the first time that pro-NGF can bind p75^{NTR} and can act as a potent inducer of p75^{NTR}-dependent apoptosis in sympathetic neurons, oligodendrocytes and in a vascular smooth muscle cell line (Lee et al., 2001). However, studies demonstrating that pro-NGF can bind equally well to p75^{NTR} and TrkA but with ten-fold lower affinity than NGF raise questions about selectivity of the apoptotic role of p75^{NTR} in cells expressing both types of these receptors (Nykjaer et al., 2004, 2005). The recent discovery that pro-NGF can act via a dual receptor system of $p75^{NTR}$ and sortilin to mediate cell apoptosis is considered to be a major breakthrough in establishing an apoptotic role for p75^{NTR}. Using multidisciplinary approaches, Nykjaer and colleagues have shown that pro-NGF interacts with both sortilin and p75^{NTR} via its pro- and mature domains, respectively. However, the binding of pro-NGF to both receptors on the cell surface is necessary to generate high-affinity sites and to mediate apoptosis. Blocking the interaction of pro-NGF and sortilin, using a fusion protein formed by conjugation of the pro-domain of pro-NGF to glutathione S-transferase (GST), inhibits pro-NGF-mediated apoptosis, whereas normal expression of exogenous sortilin in Schwann cells, which usually express only p75^{NTR}, renders these cells sensitive to the apoptotic effect of pro-NGF (Nykjaer et al., 2004). Additionally, it has also been demonstrated that pro-BDNF can induce apoptosis *via* interaction with the sortilin and p75^{NTR} receptor complex in sympathetic neuronal cultures (Teng et al., 2005). However, it is of interest to note that co-expression of sortilin and p75^{NTR} may not always lead to pro-neurotrophin-mediated cell death as pro-NGF treatment has been shown to induce migratory activity rather than death in melanoma cells expressing both sortilin and p75^{NTR} (Shonukan et al., 2003; Barker, 2004).

Given the evidence that p75^{NTR} is expressed in the basal forebrain cholinergic neurons whose effects are known to be regulated by neurotensin (Lapchak et al., 1990; Cape et al., 2000), I evaluated the possible co-expression of p75^{NTR} and sortilin in these neurons of the adult rat brain. My immunohistochemical studies clearly demonstrated that both sortilin and p75^{NTR} are evident in all the ChATpositive basal forebrain neurons. This is supported by a recent study which showed the expression of both sortilin and p75^{NTR} in cultured as well as adult rat brain basal forebrain neurons (Volosin et al., 2006). However, degeneration of these neurons by icv administration of 192 IgG-saporin did not induce any significant alteration in sortilin levels, as evident from my Western blot results. either in the basal forebrain region or in the hippocampus. To determine whether lack of alteration in the receptor level is due to compensatory adjustment from upregulated levels in the surviving neurons or its induction in reactive glial cells, I subsequently evaluated the expression of the receptor in the affected regions of the treated rats using immunohistochemical methods. My results showed that the expression of sortilin is neither visibly up-regulated in surviving neurons nor it is induced in reactive astrocytes or microglia that are apparent following treatment with 192 IgG-saporin. Given the evidence that sortilin, unlike p75^{NTR}, is more widely expressed in various neuronal populations throughout the brain, it is possible that degeneration of a subset of cholinergic neurons induced only subtle changes in the level of this receptor which are not reflected in the Western blot analysis. Thus, further studies are needed to determine whether the

expression/level of sortilin mRNA is altered in the affected regions following treatment with 192 IgG-saporin. Also, it would be of interest to establish whether the levels of pro-NGF, as shown recently following kainic acid treatment (Volosin et al., 2006), are increased following treatment with 192 IgG-saporin.

5. Summary

In summary, the present study demonstrates that sortilin is expressed in p75^{NTR}and ChAT-positive neurons in all major regions of the adult rat brain. The selective loss of p75^{NTR}-positive basal forebrain cholinergic neurons did not, however, induce a significant alteration either in the levels or expression of sortilin in the affected regions of the treated rats. These results, taken together, provide evidence to suggest that although sortilin is co-expressed with p75^{NTR} positive cells, its levels/expression may not run in parallel with p75^{NTR} levels or expression.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Alexander M.J. and Leeman S.E. (1998). Widespread expression in adult rat forebrain of mRNA encoding high-affinity neurotensin receptor. J. Comp. Neurol. 402(4):475-500.
- Andsberg G., Kokaia Z. and Lindvall O. (2001). Upregulation of p75 neurotrophin receptor after stroke in mice does not contribute to differential vulnerability of striatal neurons. *Exp. Neurol.* 169(2):351-363.
- Angers S., Salahpour A. and Bouvier M. (2002). Dimerization: an emerging concept for G protein-coupled receptor ontogeny and function. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 42:409-435.
- Bamji S.X., Majdan M., Pozniak C.D., Belliveau D.J., Aloyz R., Kohn J., Causing C.G. and Miller F.D. (1998). The p75 neurotrophin receptor mediates neuronal apoptosis and is essential for naturally occurring sympathetic neuron death. J. Cell Biol. 140(4):911-923.
- Barker P.A. (2004). p75NTR is positively promiscuous: novel partners and new insights. *Neuron* 42(4):529-533.
- Berger-Sweeney J., Stearns N.A., Murg S.L., Floerke-Nashner L.R., Lappi D.A. and Baxter M.G. (2001). Selective immunolesions of cholinergic neurons in mice: effects on neuroanatomy, neurochemistry and behavior. J. Neurosci. 21(20):8164-8173.
- Bibel M., Hoppe E. and Barde Y.-A. (1999). Biochemical and functional interactions between the neurotrophin receptors trk and p75^{NTR}. *EMBO J.* 18(3):616-622.
- Bibel M. and Barde Y.A. (2000). Neurotrophins: key regulators of cell fate and cell shape in the vertebrate nervous system. *Genes Dev.* 14(23):2919-2937.
- Blum R. and Konnerth A. (2004). Neurotrophin-mediated rapid signaling in the central nervous system: mechanisms and functions. *Physiology*. 20:70-78.
- Boissiere F., Faucheux B., Ruberg M., Agid Y. and Hirsch E.C. (1997). Decreased TrkA gene expression in cholinergic neurons of the striatum and basal forebrain of patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Exp. Neurol.* 145(1):245-252.
- Botto J.-M., Guillemare E., Vincent J.P. and Mazella J. (1997). Effects of SR 48692 on neurotensin-induced calcium-activated chloride currents in the Xenopus oocyte expression system: agonist-like activity on the levocabastine-sensitive neurotensin receptor and absence of antagonist effect on the

levocabastine insensitive neurotensin receptor. Neurosci. Lett. 223(3):193-196.

- Boudin H., Pelaprat D., Rosténe W. and Beaudet A. (1996). Cellular distribution of neurotensin receptors in rat brain: immunohistochemical study using an antipeptide against the cloned high affinity receptor. J. Comp. Neurol. 373(1):76-89.
- Brady A.E. and Limbird L.E. (2002). G protein-coupled receptor interacting proteins: emerging roles in localization and signal transduction. *Cell Signal*. 14(4):297-309.
- Bronfman F.C. and Fainzilber M. (2004). Multi-tasking by the p75 neurotrophin receptor: sortilin things out? *EMBO Rep.* 5(9):867-71.
- Burbach G.J., Hellweg R., Haas C.A., Del Turco D., Deicke U., Abramowski D., Jucker M., Staufenbiel M. and Deller T. (2004). Induction of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in plaque-associated cells of aged APP23 transgenic mice. J. Neurosci. 24(10): 2421-30.
- Bussmann K.A.V. and Sofroniew M.V. (1999). Re-expression of p75^{NTR} by adult motor neurons after axotomy is triggered by retrograde transport of a positive signal from axons regrowing through damaged or denervated peripheral nerve tissue. *Neuroscience*. 91(1):273-281.
- Cahill C.M., Morinville A., Lee M.C., Vincent J.P., Collier B. and Beaudet A. (2001). Prolonged morphine treatment targets delta opioid receptors to neuronal plasma membranes and enhances delta-mediated antinociception. J. Neurosci. 21(19):7598-7607.
- Cape E.G., Manns I.D., Alonso A., Beaudet A. and Jones B.E. (2000). Neurotensin-induced bursting of cholinergic basal forebrain neurons promotes gamma and theta cortical activity together with waking and paradoxical sleep. J. Neurosci. 20(22):8452-8461.
- Carraway R. and Leeman S.E. (1973). The isolation of a new hypotensive peptide, neurotensin, from bovine hypothalami. J. Biol. Chem. 248(19):6854-6861.
- Casaccia-Bonnefil P., Carter B.D., Dobrowsky R.T. and Chao M.V. (1996). Death of oligodendrocytes mediated by the interaction of nerve growth factor with its receptor p75. *Nature*. 383(6602):716-719.
- Casademunt E., Carter B.D., Benzel I., Frade J.M., Dechant G. and Barde Y.A. (1999). The zinc finger protein NRIF interacts with the neurotrophin receptor

p75(NTR) and participates in programmed cell death. *EMBO J.* 18(21):6050-6061.

- Castel M.N., Woulfe J., Wang X., Laduron P.M. and Beaudet A. (1992). Light and electron microscopic localization of retrogradely transported neurotensin in rat nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons. *Neuroscience*. 50(2):269-282.
- Chabry J., Labbé-Jullié C., Gully D., Kitabgi P., Vincent J.-P. and Mazella J. (1994). Stable expression of the cloned rat brain neurotensin receptor into fibroblasts: binding properties, photoaffinity labeling, transduction mechanisms, and internalization. *J. Neurochem.* 63(1):19–27.
- Chao M.V. (1994). The p75 neurotrophin receptor. J. Neurobiol. 25(11):1373-1385.
- Chao M.V. and B.L. Hempstead. (1995). p75 and Trk: a two-receptor system. *Trends Neurosci.* 18(7):321-326.
- Chao M.V. (2003). Neurotrophins and their receptors: a convergence point for many signaling pathways. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 4(4):299-309.
- Chen Z.Y., Ieraci A., Teng H., Dall H., Meng C.X., Herrera D.G., Nykjaer A., Hempstead B.L. and Lee F.S. (2005). Sortilin controls intracellular sorting of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor to the regulated secretory pathway. J. Neurosci. 25(26):6156-6166.
- Chittka A. and Chao M.V. (1999). Identification of a zinc finger protein whose subcellular distribution is regulated by serum and nerve growth factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 96(19):10705-10710.
- Cooper J.R., Bloom F.E. and Roth R.H. (Eds). (1996). *The Biochemical basis of Neuropharmacology*, Oxford University Press, New York. pp. 210-214.
- Dal Farra C., Sarret P., Navarro V., Botto J.M., Mazella J. and Vincent J.P. (2001). Involvement of the neurotensin receptor subtype NTR3 in the growth effect of neurotensin on cancer cell lines. *Int. J. Cancer.* 92(4):503-509.
- Davey F. and Davies A.M. (1998). TrkB signaling inhibits p75-mediated apoptosis induced by nerve growth factor in embryonic proprioceptive neurons. *Curr. Biol.* 8(16):915-918.
- Dechant G. and Barde Y.A. (2002). The neurotrophin receptor p75(NTR): novel functions and implications for diseases of the nervous system. *Nat. Neurosci.* 5(11):1131-1136.

- Dicou E., Vincent J.P. and Mazella J. (2004). Neurotensin receptor-3/sortilin mediates neurotensin-induced cytokine/chemokine expression in a murine microglial cell line. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 78(1):92-99.
- Emson P.C., Goedert M. and Mantyh P.W. (1985). Neurotensin-containing neurons. In: A. Björklund and T. Hökfelt (Eds). Handbook of chemical neuroanatomy. Vol. 4. GABA and neuropeptides in the CNS, Part I. Amsterdam: Elsevier. pp. 355-405.
- Epa W.R., Markovska, K. and Barrett G.L. (2004). The p75 neurotrophin receptor enhances TrkA signaling by binding to Shc and augmenting its phosphorylation. *J. Neurochem.* 89(2):344-353.
- Everitt B.J. and Robbins T.W. (1997). Central cholinergic systems and cognition. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 48:649-84.
- Faure M.P., Alonso A., Nouel D., Gaudriault G., Dennis M., Vincent J.P. and Beaudet A. (1995). Somatodendritic internalization and perinuclear targeting of neurotensin in the mammalian brain. J. Neurosci. 15(6):4140-4147.
- Ferreira G., Meurisse M., Tillet Y. and Levy F. (2001). Distribution and colocalization of cholineacetyltransferase and p75 neurotrophin receptors in the sheep basal forebrain: implications for the use of a specific cholinergic immunotoxin. *Neuroscience*. 104(2): 419-439.
- Fischer W., Wictorin A., Björklund A., Williams L.R., Varon S. and F.H. Gage. (1987). Amelioration of cholinergic neuron atrophy and spatial memory impairment in aged rats by nerve growth factor. *Nature*. 329(6134):65-68.
- Friedman W.J., Ibanez C.F., Hallbook F., Persson H., Cain L.D., Dreyfus C.F. and Black I.B. (1993). Differential actions of neurotrophins in the locus coeruleus and basal forebrain. *Exp. Neurol.* 119(1):72-78.
- Friedman W.J. and Greene L.A. (1999). Neurotrophin signaling via Trks and p75. *Exp. Cell Res.* 253(1):131-142.
- Greferath U., Mallard C., Roufail E., Rees S.M., Barrett G.L. and Bartlett P.F. (2002). Expression of the p75 neurotrophin receptor by striatal cholinergic neurons following global ischemia in rats is associated with neuronal degeneration. *Neurosci. Lett.* 332(1):57-60.
- Gully D., Canton M., Boigegrain R., Jeanjean F., Molimard J.-C., Poncelet M., Gueudet C., Heaulme M., Leyris R. and Brouard A. (1993). Biochemical and pharmacological profile of a potent and selective nonpeptide antagonist of the neurotensin receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 90(1):65-69.

- Gully, D., Labeeuw B., Boigegrain R., Oury-Donat F., Bachy A., Poncelet M., Steinberg R., Suaud-Chagny M.F., Santucci V., Vita N., Pecceu F., Labbé-Jullié C., Kitabgi P., Soubrié P., Le Fur G. and Maffrand J.P. (1997). Biochemical and pharmacological activities of SR142948A, a potent neurotensin receptor antagonist. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 280(2):802–812.
- Hanbury R., Charles V., Chen E.Y., Leventhal L., Rosenstein J.M., Mufson E.J. and Kordower J.H. (2002). Excitotoxic and metabolic damage to the rodent striatum: role of the p75 neurotrophin receptor and glial progenitors. J. Comp. Neurol. 444(4):291-305.
- Hannila S.S., Lawrance G.M., Ross G.M. and Kawaja M.D. (2004). TrkA and mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphorylation are enhanced in sympathetic neurons lacking functional p75 neurotrophin receptor expression. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 19(10):2903-2908.
- Hawkes C. and Kar S. (2004). The insulin-like growth factor-II/mannose-6phosphate receptor: structure, distribution and function in the central nervous system. *Brain Res. Rev.* 44(2-3):117-140.
- Hawkes C., Jhamandas J.H. and Kar S. (2005). Selective loss of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons is associated with decreased phosphorylation of Ser⁹ glycogen synthase kinase-3beta. *J. Neurochem.* 95(1):263-272.
- Hawkes C., Kabogo D., Amritraj A. and Kar S. (2006). Upregulation of cationindependent mannose-6-phosphate receptor and endosomal-lysosomal markers in surviving neurons after 192-IgG-saporin administrations into the adult rat brain. *Am. J. Pathol.* 169(4):1140-1154.
- He X.L. and Garcia K.C. (2004). Structure of nerve growth factor complexed with the shared neurotrophin receptor p75. *Science*. 304(5672):870-875.
- Heckers S., Ohtake T., Wiley R.G., Lappi D.A., Geula C. and Mesulam M.M. (1994). Complete and selective cholinergic denervation of rat neocortex and hippocampus but not amygdala by an immunotoxin against the p75 NGF receptor. *J. Neurosci.* 14(3):1271-1289.
- Hefti F., Hartikka J., Eckenstein F., Gnahn H., Heumann R. and Schwab M. (1985). Nerve growth factor increases choline acetyltransferase but not survival or fiber outgrowth of cultured fetal septal cholinergic neurons. *Neuroscience*. 14(1):55-68.
- Hermans-Borgmeyer I., Hermey G., Nykjaer A. and Schaller C. (1999). Expression of the 100-kDa neurotensin receptor sortilin during mouse embryonal development. *Mol. Brain Res.* 65(2):216-219.

- Hermey G., Riedel I.B., Hampe W., Schaller H.C. and Hermans-Borgmeyer I. (1999). Identification and characterization of SorCS, a third member of a novel receptor family. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 266(2):347-351.
- Hermey G., Plath N., Hubner C.A., Kuhl D. and Schaller H.C. and Hermans-Borgmeyer I. (2004). The three sorSc genes are differentially expressed and regulated by synaptic activity. *J. Neurochem.* 88(6):1470-1476.
- Hollerbach E.H., Haas C.A., Hildebrandt H., Frotscher M. and Naumann T. (1998). Region-specific activation of microglial cells in the rat septal complex following fimbria-fornix transection. J. Comp. Neurol. 390(4):481-496.
- Huang E.J. and Reichardt L.F. (2001). Neurotrophins: roles in neuronal development and function. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 24:677-736.
- Huang E.J. and Reichardt L.F. (2003). Trk receptors: roles in neuronal signal transduction. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 72:609-642.
- Hyman C., Hofer M., Barde Y.A., Juhasz M., Yancopoulos G.D., Squinto S.P. and Lindsay R.M. (1991). BDNF is a neurotrophic factor for dopaminergic neurons of the substantia niagra. *Nature*. 350(6315):230-232.
- Irie S., Hachiya T., Rabizadeh S., Maruyama W., Mukai J., Li Y., Reed J.C., Bredesen D.E. and Sato T.A. (1999). Functional interaction of Fas-associated phosphatase-1 (FAP-1) with p75(NTR) and their effects on NF-kappaB activation. *FEBS Lett.* 460(2):191-198.
- Jacobsen L., Madsen P., Moestrup S.K., Lund A.H., Tommerup N., Nykjaer A., Sottrup-Jensen L., Gliemann J. and Petersen C.M. (1996). Molecular characterization of a novel human hybrid-type receptor that binds the alpha2macroglobulin receptor-associated protein. J. Biol. Chem. 271(49):31379-31383.
- Jafferali S., Dumont Y., Sotty F., Robitaille Y., Quirion R. and Kar S. (2000). Insulin-like growth factor-I and its receptor in the frontal cortex, hippocampus and cerebellum of normal human and Alzheimer's disease brains. *Synapse*. 38(4):450–459.
- Jennes L., Stumpf W.E. and Kalivas P.W. (1982). Neurotensin: topographical distribution in rat brain by immunohistochemistry. J. Comp. Neurol. 210(3):211-224.
- Kalb R. (2005). The protean actions of neurotrophins and their receptors on the life and death of neurons. *Trends Neurosci.* 28(1):5-11.

- Kafitz K.W., Rose C.R., Thoenen H. and Konnerth A. (1999). Neurotrophinevoked rapid excitation through TrkB receptors. *Nature*. 401(6756):918-921.
- Kandror K.V. and Pilch P.F. (1994). Identification and isolation of glycoproteins that translocate to the cell surface from GLUT4-enriched vesicles in an insulin-dependent fashion. J. Biol. Chem. 269(1):138-142.
- Kaplan D.R. and Miller F.D. (1997). Signal transduction by the neurotrophin receptors. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 9(2):213-221.
- Kaplan D.R. and Miller F.D. (2004). A move to sort life from death. *Nature*. 427(6977):798-799.
- Kar S. (2002). Role of amyloid β peptides in the regulation of central cholinergic functions and its relevance to Alzheimer's disease pathology. *Drug Dev. Res.* 56(2):248-263.
- Kikuno R., Nagase T., Ishikawa K., Hirosawa M., Miyajima N., Tanaka A., Kotani H., Nomura N. and Ohara O. (1999). Prediction of the coding sequences of unidentified human genes. XIV. The complete sequences of 100 new cDNA clones from brain which code for large proteins in vitro. DNA Res. 6(3):197-205.
- Kokaia Z., Andsberg G., Martinez-Serrano A. and Lindvall O. (1998). Focal ischemia in rats induces expression of p75 neurotrophin receptor in resistant striatal cholinergic neurons. *Neuroscience*. 84(4):1113-1125.
- Kromer L.F. (1987). Nerve growth factor treatment after brain injury prevents neuronal death. *Science*. 235(4785):214-216.
- Lapchak P.A., Araujo D.M., Quirion R. and Beaudet A. (1990). Neurotensin regulation of endogenous acetylcholine release from rat cerebral cortex: effect of quinolinic acid lesions of the basal forebrain. J. Neurochem. 55(4):1397-1403.
- Large T.H., Weskamp G., Helder J.C., Radeke M.J., Misko T.P., Shooter E.M. and Reichardt L.F. (1989). Structure and developmental expression of the nerve growth factor receptor in the chicken central nervous system. *Neuron*. 2(2):1123-1134.
- Lee R., Kermani P., Teng K.K. and Hempstead B.L. (2001). Regulation of cell survival by secreted proneurotrophins. *Science*. 294(5548):1945-1948.
- Lee J., Fukumoto H., Orne J., Klucken J., Raju S., Vanderburg C.R., Irizarry M.C., Hyman B.T. and Ingelsson M. (2005). Decreased levels of BDNF

protein in Alzheimer temporal cortex are independent of BDNF polymorphisms. *Exp. Neurol.* 194(1):91-96.

- Lefrancois S., Zeng J., Hassan A.J., Canuel M. and Morales C.R. (2003). The lysosomal trafficking of sphingolipid activator proteins (SAPs) is mediated by sortilin. *EMBO J.* 22(24):6430-6437.
- Lefrancois S., Canuel M., Zeng J. and Morales C.R. (2005). Inactivation of sortilin (a novel lysosomal sorting receptor) by dominant negative competition and RNA interference. *Biol. Proced. Online*. 7:17-25.
- Lemke R., Rossner S. and Schliebs R. (1999). Leukemia inhibitory factor expression is not induced in activated microglia and reactive astrocytes in response to rat basal forebrain cholinergic lesion. *Neurosci. Lett.* 267(1):53-56.
- Lin B.Z., Pilch P.F. and Kandror K.V. (1997). Sortilin is a major protein component of Glut4-containing vesicles. J. Biol. Chem. 272(39):24145-24147.
- Mamidipudi V. and Wooten M.W. (2002). Dual role for p75NTR signaling in survival and cell death: Can intracellular mediators provide an explanation? J. Neurosci. Res. 68(4):373-384.
- Martin S., Navarro V., Vincent J.P. and Mazella J. (2002). Neurotensin receptor-1 and -3 complex modulates the cellular signaling of neurotensin in the H29 cell line. *Gastroenterology*. 123(4):1135-1143.
- Martin S., Vincent J.P. and Mazella J. (2003). Involvement of the neurotensin receptor-3 in the neurotensin-induced migration of human microglia. J. Neurosci. 23(4):1198-1205.
- Martin S., Dicou E., Vincent J.P. and Mazella J. (2005). Neurotensin and the neurotensin receptor-3 in microglial cells. J. Neurosci. Res. 81(3):322-326.
- Mazella J., Botto J.M., Guillemare E., Coppola T., Sarret P. and Vincent J.P. (1996). Structure, functional expression, and cerebral localization of the levocabastine-sensitive neurotensin/neuromedin N receptor from mouse brain. J. Neurosci. 16(18): 5613–5620.
- Mazella J., Zsurger N., Navarro V., Chabry J., Kaghad M., Caput D., Ferrara P., Vita N., Gully D., Maffrand J.P. and Vincent J.P. (1998). The 100-kDa neurotensin receptor is gp95/sortilin, a non-G-protein-coupled receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 273(41):26273-26276.
- Mazella J. (2001). Sortilin/neurotensin receptor-3: a new tool to investigate neurotensin signaling and cellular trafficking? *Cell Signal*. 13(1):1-6.

- Miller F.D. and Kaplan D.R. (2001). Neurotrophin signaling pathways regulating neuronal apoptosis. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 58(8):1045-1053.
- Morris N.J., Ross S.A., Lane W.S., Moestrup S.K., Petersen C.M., Keller S.R. and Lienhard G. E. (1998). Sortilin is the Major 110-kDa Protein in GLUT4 vesicles from Adipocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273(6):3582-3587.
- Mowla S.J., Pareek S., Farhadi H.F., Petrecca K., Fawcett J.P., Seidah N.G., Morris S.J., Sossin W.S. and Murphy R.A. (1999). Differential sorting of nerve growth factor and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in hippocampal neurons. J. Neurosci. 19(6):2069-2080.
- Moyse E., Rosténe W., Vial M., Leonard K., Mazella J., Kitabgi P., Vincent J.P. and Beaudet A. (1987). Distribution of neurotensin binding sites in rat brain: a light microscopic radioautographic study using monoiodo [¹²⁵I]Tyr3-neurotensin. *Neuroscience*. 22(2):525-536.
- Mufson E.J., Ginsberg S.D., Ikonomovic M.D. and DeKosky S.T. (2003). Human cholinergic basal forebrain: chemoanatomy and neurologic dysfunction. J. Chem. Neuroanat. 26(4):233-242.
- Mukai J., Hachiya T., Shoji-Hoshino S., Kimura M.T., Nadano D., Suvanto P., Hanaoka T., Li Y., Irie S., Greene L.A. and Sato T.A. (2000). NADE, a p75associated cell death executor, is involved in signal transduction mediated by the common neurotrophin receptor p75NTR. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275(23):17566-17570.
- Munck-Petersen C., Nielsen M.S., Jacobsen C., Tauris J., Jacobsen L. and Gliemann J, Moestrup S.K. and Madsen P. (1999). Propeptide cleavage conditions sortilin/neurotensin receptor-3 for ligand binding. *EMBO J.* 18(3):595-604.
- Nagase T., Kikuno R., Ishikawa K.I., Hirosawa M. and Ohara O. (2000). Prediction of the coding sequences of unidentified human genes. XVI. The complete sequences of 150 new cDNA clones from brain which code for large proteins in vitro. *DNA Res.* 7(1):65-73.
- Naumann T., Casademunt E., Hollerbach E., Hofmann J., Dechant G., Frotscher M. and Barde Y.A. (2002). Complete deletion of the neurotrophin receptor p75NTR leads to long-lasting increases in the number of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons. J. Neurosci. 22(7):2409-2418.
- Navarro V., Martin S., Sarret P., Nielsen M.S., Petersen C.M., Vincent J.P. and Mazella J. (2001). Pharmacological properties of the mouse neurotensin receptor 3. Maintenance of cell surface receptor during internalization of

neurotensin. FEBS Lett. 495(1-2):100-105.

- Nemeroff C.B., Levant B., Myers B. and Bissette G. (1992). Neurotensin, antipsychotic drugs, and schizophrenia. Basic and clinical studies. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 668:146-156.
- Ni X., Canuel M. and Morales C.R. (2006). The sorting and trafficking of lysosomal proteins. *Histol. Histopathol.* 21(8):899-913.
- Ni X. and Morales C. R. (2006). The lysosomal trafficking of acid sphingomyelinase is mediated by sortilin and mannose-6-phosphate receptor. *Traffic*. 7(7):889-902.
- Nielsen M.S., Jacobsen C., Olivecrona G., Gliemann J. and Petersen C.M. (1999). Sortilin/neurotensin receptor-3 binds and mediates degradation of lipoprotein lipase. J. Biol. Chem. 274(13):8832-8836.
- Nielsen M.S., Madsen P., Christensen E.I., Nykjaer A., Gliemann J., Kasper D., Pohlmann R. and Petersen C.M. (2001). The sortilin cytoplasmic tail conveys Golgi-endosome transport and binds the VHS domain of the GGA2 sorting protein. *EMBO J.* 20(9):2180-2190.
- Nykjaer A., Lee R., Teng K.K., Jansen P., Madsen P., Nielsen M.S., Jacobsen C., Kliemannel M., Scwarz E., Willnow T.E., Hempstead B.L. and Petersen C.M. (2004). Sortilin is essential for pro-NGF-induced neuronal cell death. *Nature*. 427(6977): 843-848.
- Nykjaer A., Willnow T.E. and Petersen C.M. (2005). p75^{NTR} live or let die. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 15(1):49-57.
- Patapoutian A. and Reichardt L.F. (2001). Trk receptors: mediators of neurotrophin action. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 11(3):272-280.
- Perry T., Hodges H. and Gray J.A. (2001). Behavioural, histological and immunocytochemical consequences following 192 IgG-saporin immunolesions of the basal forebrain cholinergic system. *Brain Res. Bull.* 54(1):29-48.
- Petersen C.M., Nielsen M.S., Nykjaer A., Jacobsen L., Tommerup N., Rasmussen H.H., Roigaard H., Gliemann J., Madsen P. and Moestrup S.K. (1997). Molecular identification of a novel candidate sorting receptor purified from human brain by receptor-associated protein affinity chromatography. J. Biol. Chem. 272(6):3599-3605.

- Petersen C.M., Nielsen M.S., Jacobsen C., Tauris J., Jacobsen L., Gliemann J., Moestrup S.K. and Madsen P. (1999). Propeptide cleavage conditions sortilin/neurotensin receptor-3 for ligand binding. *EMBO J.* 18(3):595-604.
- Poinot-Chazel C., Portier M., Bouaboula M., Vita N., Pecceu F., Gully D., Monroe J.G., Maffrand J.P., Le Fur G. and Casellas P. (1996). Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase couples neurotensin receptor stimulation to induction of the primary response gene Krox-24. *Biochem. J.* 320(Pt. 1):145– 151.
- Poo M.M. (2001). Neurotrophins as synaptic modulators. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2(1):24-32.
- Porritt M.J., Batchelor P.E. and Howells D.W. (2005). Inhibiting BDNF expression by antisense oligonuleotide infusion causes loss of nigral dopaminergic neurons. *Exp. Neurol.* 192(1):226-234.
- Rossner S. (1997). Cholinergic immunolesions by 192 IgG-saporin-useful tool to simulate pathogenic aspects of Alzheimer's disease. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 15(7):835-850.
- Rosténe W.H. and Alexander M.J. (1997). Neurotensin and neuroendocrine regulation. 18(2):115-173.
- Roux P.P. and Barker P.A. (2002). Neurotrophin signaling through the p75 neurotrophin receptor. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 67(3):203-233.
- Salehi A.H., Roux P.P., Kubu C.J., Zeindler C., Bhakar A., Tannis L.L., Verdi J.M. and Barker P.A. (2000). NRAGE, a novel MAGE protein, interacts with the p75 neurotrophin receptor and facilitates nerve growth factor-dependent apoptosis. *Neuron*. 27(2):279-288.
- Sarret P. and Beaudet A. (2003). Neurotensin receptors in the central nervous system. In: Quirion R.B., Björklund A. and Hökfelt T. (Eds). Handbook of chemical neuroanatomy. Vol 20. Peptide receptors, Part II. Amsterdam: Elsevier. pp. 323-400.
- Sarret P., Krzywkowski P., Segal L., Nielsen M.S., Petersen C.M., Mazella J., Stroh T. and Beaudet A. (2003). Distribution of NTS3 receptor/sortilin mRNA and protein in the rat central nervous system. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 461(4):483-505.
- Schor N.F. (2005). The p75 neurotrophin receptor in human development and disease. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 77(3):201-214.

- Seidah N.G., Benjannet S., Pareek S., Chretien M. and Murphy R.A. (1996). Cellular processing of the neurotrophin precursors of NT3 and BDNF by the mammalian proprotein convertases. *FEBS Letters*. 379(3):247-250.
- Semba K. and Fibiger H.C. (1989). Organization of the central cholinergic system. *Prog. Brain Res.* 79:37-63.
- Shi J. and Kandror K.V. (2005). Sortilin is essential and sufficient for the formation of Glut4 storage vesicles in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Dev. Cell.* 9(1):99-108.
- Shonukan O., Bagayogo I., McCrea P., Chao M. and Hempstead B. (2003). Neurotrophin-induced melanoma cell migration is mediated through the actinbundling protein fascin. *Oncogene*. 22(23):3616-3623.
- Soilu-Hanninen M., Ekert P., Bucci T., Syroid D., Bartlett P.F. and Kilpatrick T.J. (1999). Nerve growth factor signaling through p75 induces apoptosis in Schwann cells via a Bcl-2-independent pathway. J. Neurosci. 19(12):4828-4838.
- Smith J.E., Co C., Yin X., Sizemore G.M., Liguori A., Johnson W.E. 3rd. and Martin T.J. (2004). Involvement of cholinergic neuronal systems in intravenous cocaine self-administration. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 27(8):841-850.
- Strada O., Hirsch E.C., Javoy-Agid F., Lehericy S., Ruberg M., Hauw J.J. and Agid Y. (1992). Does the loss of nerve growth factor receptors precede loss of cholinergic neurons in Alzheimer's disease? An Autoradiographic study in the human striatum and basal forebrain. J. Neurosci. 12(12):4766-4774.
- Stroh T., Jackson A.C., Sarret P., Dal Farra C., Vincent J.P., Kreienkamp H.J., Mazella J. and Beaudet A. (2000). Intracellular dynamics of sst5 receptors in transfected COS-7 cells: maintenance of cell surface receptors during ligandinduced endocytosis. *Endocrinology*. 141(1):354-365.
- Takatsu H., Katoh Y., Shiba Y. and Nakayama K. (2001). Golgi-localizing, gamma-adaptin ear homology domain, ADP-ribosylation factor binding (GGA) proteins interact with acid dileucine sequences within the cytoplasmic domains of sorting receptors through their Vps27p/HRS/STAM (VHS) domains. J. Biol. Chem. 276(30):28541-28545.
- Tanaka K., Masu M. and Nakanishi S. (1990). Structure and functional expression of the cloned rat neurotensin receptor. *Neuron*. 4(6):847–854.
- Teng H.K., Teng K.K., Lee R., Wright S., Tevar S., Almeida R.D., Kermani P., Torkin R., Chen Z.Y., Lee F.S., Kraemer R.T., Nykjaer A. and Hempstead

B.L. (2005). ProBDNF induces neuronal apoptosis via activation of a receptor complex of p75^{NTR} and sortilin. *J. Neurosci.* 25(22):5455-5463.

- Thoenen H. (2000). Neurotrophins and activity-dependent plasticity. *Prog. Brain Res.* 128:183-191.
- Tongiorgi E., Armellin M., Giulianini P.G., Bregola G., Zucchini S., Paradiso B., Steward O., Cattaneo A. and Simonato M. (2004). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA and protein are targeted to discrete dendritic laminas by events that trigger epileptogenesis. J. Neurosci. 24(30):6842-6852.
- Torres E.M., Perry T.A., Blockland A., Wilkinson L.S., Wiley R.G., Lappi D.A. and Dunnet S.B. (1994). Behavioural, histochemical and biochemical consequences of selective immunolesions in discrete regions of the basal forebrain cholinergic system. *Neuroscience*. 63(1):95-122.
- Vincent J.P., Mazella J. and Kitabgi P. (1999). Neurotensin and neurotensin receptors. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 20(7): 302-309.
- Vita N., Laurent P., Lefort S., Chalon P., Lelias J.M., Kaghad M., Le Fur G., Caput D. and Ferrara P. (1993). Primary structure and functional expression of mouse pituitary and human brain corticotrophin releasing factor receptors. *FEBS Lett.* 335(1):1–5.
- Volosin M., Song W., Almeida R.D., Kaplan D.R., Hempstead B.L. and Friedman W.J. (2006). Interaction of survival and death signaling in basal forebrain neurons: roles of neurotrophins and proneurotrophins. *J. Neurosci.* 26(29):7756-7766.
- Waite J.J., Chen A.D., Wardlow M.L., Wiley R.G., Lappi D.A. and Thai L.J. (1995). 192 immunoglobulin G-saporin produces graded behavioral and biochemical changes accompanying the loss of cholinergic neurons of the basal forebrain and cerebellar Purkinje cells. *Neuroscience*. 65(2):463-476.
- Wiley R.G. (2001). Toxin-induced death of neurotrophin-sensitive neurons. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 169:217-222.
- Willnow T.E. (1998). Receptor-associated protein (RAP): a specialized chaperone for endocytic receptors. *Biol. Chem.* 379(8-9):1025-1031.
- Yamada M., Yamada M., Lombet A., Forgez P. and Rostène W. (1998). Distinct functional characteristics of levocabastine sensitive rat neurotensin NT2 receptor expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Life Sci.* 62(23):375–380.
- Yamazaki H., Bujo H., Kusunoki J., Seimiya K., Kanaki T., Morisaki N., Schneider W.J. and Saito Y. (1996). Elements of neural adhesion molecules

and a yeast vacuolar protein sorting receptor are present in a novel mammalian low density lipoprotein receptor family member. J. Biol. Chem. 271(40):24761-24768.

٢

Yeo T.T., Chua-Couzens J., Butcher L.L., Bredesen D.E., Cooper J.D., Valletta J.S., Mobley W.C. and Longo F.M. (1997). Absence of p75^{NTR} causes increased basal forebrain cholinergic neuron size, choline acetyltrasferase activity, and target innervation. *J. Neurosci.* 17(20):7594-7605.